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vi PREFATORY NOTE

of the undergraduate College, now reéstablished as an
independent school in the larger University which has
grown out of it. Other members of the teaching and
administrative staff have undertaken to set forth the
history of the other schools and of the several colleges
which have been incorporated in the University. How
successfully they have accomplished this object the fol-
lowing pages bear witness, and the Editorial Committee
takes this occasion to express its grateful appreciation
to the writers who have made possible the publication
of this narrative.

/ BRANDER MATTHEWS, Chairman.
« JOHN B. PINE.
P HARRY THURSTON PECK.
MUNROE SMITH.
FREDERICK P. KEPPEL, Secretary.

CoLUMBIA UNIVERSITY,
¢ THE CiTY oF NEW YORK,

Commencement Day,
June 8, 1904.
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A HISTORY OF COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

BOOK ONE
KIN®S COLLEGE AND COLUMBIA COLLEGE

CHAPTER I
1702-1754
THE FOUNDING OF KING’'S COLLEGE

Ox the thirty-first day of October, 1754, George II,
King of England, created by letters patent “a Body poli-
tick and Corporate, in deed, fact, and name,” “the Govern-
ors of the College of the Province of New York, in the City
of New York, in America,” and ordained that, certain desig-
nated lands having been first conveyed and assured to the
corporation, “ there be erected and made on the said Lands
a College, and other Buildings and Improvements, for the
use and convenience of the same, which shall be called
and known by the name of KiNg’s COLLEGE, for the
Instruction and Education of youth in the Learned Lan-
guages, and Liberal Arts and Sciences.”

It is difficult to determine at what period the design of
establishing a College in New York was first seriously
entertained. The Colony was settled under the auspices
of a trading company, and attracted, at first and for a
considerable time, settlers who were chiefly intent upon
the pursuit of gain.
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THE FOUNDING OF KING’S COLLEGE 9

sition and resentment that was still active is indicated by 1756
the following card published in the New York Gazette
or Weekly Post Boy, No. 6562, July 28, 1766: —

“Whereas it has been reported to the Reproach and Preju-
dice of David Jones, Esq., Speaker of the General Assembly,
That he used his Endeavours, for the obtaining the Charter
for establishing the College, with the exclusion of all Pro-
fessions (but those of the Church of England) from being
President; These may serve to show, that we have had great
opportunities to know his Sentiments in this Affair, and never
have observed or discovered, in any one Instance, his Applica-
tion or Inclination, for having the Charter in the Form and
Manner it now is, touching the Limitation aforesaid; but, on
the Contrary, have often seen him shew his dislike thereto,
and heard him declare his Opinion against it.

“ WM. WALTON,

“ ELEAZER MILLER.
“ WM. NicoLL

% JoHANNES Lorr
“ Prerer WINNE

“THo. CORNELL.
“ New York, July 6, 1766.”

Advantage was taken of the arrival, in the fall of
1755, of a new Governor-General, Sir Charles Hardy,
to present to him an inflammatory address, in the hope
of securing his influence against the College. ¢ But Sir
Charles received it with coldness and treated it as it de-
served. On the other hand, he received the address of
the Governors of the College, presented by the President,
with the greatest respect and politeness. He signified
that he was desirous of seeing their subscription paper ;
and the next day when it was brought to him, he gener-
ously subscribed, without any solicitations, £500 for the
College. This was such a disappointment and mortifica-
tion to its opposers, that from that time they were silent,
and gave no further molestation. Not long after the
Board of Governors, who had an equitable and just right


















THE FOUNDING OF KING'S COLLEGE 18

this Province ; and among others, insisted, that as there 1754
were different Sects of Christians among us, Therefore, in
order to give every sect an equal Interest in the College,
no Religion should be taught in it; and no Form of
Prayer used, but such as was appointed by the Legis-
lature. . . . The Members of the Vestry of Trinity
Church (who, as several of them assured me, at first
thought of no such Thing?!) finding with what Warmth and
unbecoming Zeal, they were attacked, and that this
Writer was not only stiring up all the other Sects of
Christians against them but also was endeavouring
entirely to banish Religion from the College as much as
in him lay : They then thought it their Duty, as Chris-
tians, and in Justice to their Constituents, to take at least
some care, that they did not part with the Lands they were
intrusted with, unless for the Interest of Religion ; and
therefore, I must say, I think wisely, came to this Resolu-
tion, viz: That they would not part with their Lands,
but upon the conditions since mentioned in the Charter.
The Vestry of the Church (as one of the Trustees, whose
Veracity I can depend upon, assures me) acquainted the
Trustees with this Resolution. Thus I have stated the
Fact, as to this Transaction of the Members of the Vestry
of Trinity Church, as the same truly happened ; and are
the only steps that I have heard, or is pretended, have
been taken by them, in order to obtain a Charter; and
thus much I thought necessary to relate, that it might
clearly appear, how far they are to blame, and whether
there was any Reason to sound the Trumpet against the
Church, whatever there may be against a few particular
Members of it.”

The stipulations alluded to were, after the Revolution,
eliminated from the Charter, but they still remain the
condition of the deed of gift from Trinity Church.

1 These words are not italicized in the original.



CHAPTER II
1754-1763
PRESIDENT SAMUEL JOHNSON

THE Act of 1751 gave no authority to the Trustees
therein named other than to put at interest the sum
already raised, to receive additional contributions and
donations, and to receive proposals as to the location of
the College. The Act of July 4, 1753, appropriated an
annual sum of money for the payment of instructors and
authorized the Trustees to engage suitable masters. Ac-
cordingly, on the 22d of November, 1753, *“the Trustees
wrote to Dr. Johnson, of Stratford, a Minister of the
Church of England, known to be well qualified for the
Education of Youth ; and Mr. Whittelsey, of New Haven,
a Presbyterian Gentleman, late a Tutor of Reputation, in
the College there, to undertake the Business of Masters in
the intended Seminary.” Mr. Whittelsey was unable to
accept for want of health.

The Rev. Dr. Samuel Johnson listened favorably to
their proposals. He was one of the notable men of his
time in America. He was born in Guilford, Connecticut,
in 1696, was graduated from the College at Saybrooke,
now Yale University, and was subsequently a tutor there
for three years. He then settled in West Haven, which
was then a part of New Haven, as a Congregational
minister. In the course of his studies he was led to
doubt the validity of his ordination as a minister. He
finally became convinced that the true ordination was the
Episcopal ordination, went to England, and took orders as
a minister of the Church of England. He then returned
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A HISTORY OF COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

If piety, in all the paths he trod,

Still rising vig'rous to his Lord and God ;

If charity, through all the race he ran,

Still wishing well, and doing good to man ;
If learning, free from pedantry and pride, —
If faith and virtue, walking side by side;

If well to mark his being’s aim and end, —
To shine, through life, a husband, father, friend ;
If these ambition in thy soul can raise,
Excite thy reverence, or demand thy praise;
Reader — ere yet thou quit this earthly scene,
Revere his name, and be what ke has been.

«“MyLzs CoOPER.”!

1 Chandler’s Life of Johnson.







































ENDOWMENT AND CURRICULUM 41

No further account of the school is given in the min- 1767
utes till the twentieth of November, 1766, when it was
reported as greatly neglected by the Master. In August,
1767, the Committee on the school reported that the
number of pupils had fallen to fifteen, that the annual
expense of it was about £260, that the College had already
sunk about £200, exclusive of £170 outstanding debts:
and it was accordingly ordered that the usher be discharged
at the end of six months. How the school prospered after
this cannot now be determined, as there is no further
reference to it in existing minutes of the Governors ; but
as reference to it is made in a paper written in 1778, or
thereabouts, by President Cooper, it probably continued
till the closing of King’s College in 1776.






























PRESIDENT MYLES COOPER 49

One avenue alone remained,
A speedy passage there I gained,
And winged my rapid way.

% That moment, all the furious throng,
An entrauce forcing, poured along,
And filled my peaceful cell ;
‘Where harmless jest, and modest mirth,
And cheerful laughter oft had birth
And joy was wont to dwell.

% Nor yet content — but hoping still
Their impious purpose to fulfil,
They force each yielding door:
And while their curses load my head
With piercing steel they probe the bed,
And thirst for human gore.

“ Meanwhile along the sounding shore,
‘Where Hudson’s waves incessant roar,
I work my weary way;
And skirt the windings of the tide,
My faithful pupil by my side,
Nor wish the approach of day.”

After wandering along the river bank till near morning
he found refuge in the house of a friend till the following
night, when he embarked on an English sloop of war
in the harbor, the Kingfisher, Captain James Montagu,
in which he went to England. On the supposition that
his absence would be but temporary, the Governors, on
May 16, appointed as Preses pro tempore Revd. Ben-
jamin Moore, of the class of ’68, afterward Bishop of
New York. He was to take charge of the College until
the return of Dr. Cooper, with whom he was to settle as
to the allowance to be made him out of the President’s
salary for his care and trouble. Dr. Cooper never re-
turned to America. He ultimately settled. in Edinburgh,
as minister of the First Episcopal Chapel, and died there,
suddenly, in 1785.

1776



CHAPTER V
THE ALUMNI OF KING'S COLLEGE

1774 THE last public Commencement of King’s College
was held in Trinity Church on Tuesday, May 17, 1774.
The New York Gazette and Weekly Mercury said of it :
«“The celebrity was honoured by the presence of his Ex-
cellency, Greneral Haldimand, the principal officers of the
Army, the Clergy and a very brilliant Assembly.” ¢The
Discourses upon this occasion did great Honour to the
Performers, who justly merited and received universal
Approbation.”

In 1775 there were seven students graduated Bachelor
of Arts, but “there was no public Commencement this
year on account of the absence of Dr. Cooper.”

The students of the class of ’76, six in number, who
had satisfactorily completed the course, received their
degrees, but there was, as noted in the Matricula, “ No
public Commencement this year. The Turbulence and
Confusion which prevail in every part of the Country
effectually suppress every literary Pursuit.” The Matri-
cula previously states, under the heading “ Anno 1776 ;
“There were no Admissions this year. On the sixth of
April, a message was sent to the Treasurer of the College
(signed Robert Benson) from a number of men who stiled
themselves the Committee of Safety desiring the Governors
to prepare the College in 6 days for the Reception of
Troops. In consequence of this Demand, the students
were dispersed, the Library, Apparatus, etc., were depos-
ited in the City Hall; and the College was turned into
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56 A HISTORY OF COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

1776 independence. On his return home a not less illustrious
association awaited him in a not less illustrious cause —
the establishment and defence of the present constitution,
with Hamilton and Madison. The last Secretary of For-
eign Affairs under the old confederation, he was selected
by Washington as the first Chief-Justice of the United
States under the new constitution. I need not speak of
the talent with which he discharged the duties of this
latter station. . . . His able negotiation and commercial
treaty with Great Britain, and his six years’ administra-
tion as Governor of this State, completed his public life.
As the character of Hamilton presents, in its soldierlike
frankness and daring, a beautiful example of the spirit of
chivalry applied to the pursuits of the statesman, so in
that of Jay, pure and holy justice seemed to be embodied.
He lived as one —

«¢Sent forth of the Omnipotent, to run
The great career of justice.’

« After a long and uninterrupted series of the highest civil
employments in the most difficult times, he suddenly re-
tired from their toils and dignities, in the full vigour of
mind and body, and at an age when, in most statesmen, the
objects of ambition show as gorgeously, and its aspirations
are as stirring as ever. . . . For the last thirty years of
his remaining life, he was known to us only by the occa-
sional appearance of his name, or the employment of his
pen in the service of piety or philanthropy. A halo of
veneration seemed to encircle Eim, as one belonging to
another world, though yet lingering amongst us. When
the tidings of his deatg came to us, they were received
through the nation, not with sorrow or mourning, but
with solemn awe; like that with which we read the
mysterious passage of ancient scripture —¢And Enoch
walked with God, and he was not, for God took him.’”
“Eloquent and learned, graced with taste and fancy,
the accomplishments of elegant letters and arts, and the
acquisitions of solid science, Robert R. Livingston was
the fellow-labourer of Jay and Hamilton in achieving the
liberties of the United States, and in rearing the fabric
of our civil institutions, as well as their ablest rival and
opponent in the subsequent division of parties. He filled
for twenty-five years the first law office of this State ; and

'
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1776 talists of the old world, combine to place him in the
highest ranks of the lasting benefactors of the human
race. It is a beautiful thought of Lord Bacon’s, that
antiquity, which honoured the law-givers, the founders or
deliverers of states, but with the titles of worthies or demi-
gods, rightly bestowed upon those who had invented or
improved the arts and commodities of human life ¢ honours
(as he terms them) heroical and divine’; because the
merit of the former is confined within the circle of one
age or nation, but that of the others is indeed like the
benefits of heaven, being permanent and universal. . . .
It was therefore a proud eulogy as well as a true one,
which a distinguished Professor lately pronounced upon
this College, when he traced to her walls and lecture-
rooms, the germs of the greatest practical improvements
which science has bestowed upon our state and nation —
the steam-navigation of Livingston and Stevens, and the
canal system of Morris and Clinton.”















COLUMBIA COLLEGE UNDER THE REGENTS 61

ordained ¢ that the College within the City of New York 1784
heretofore called King’s College be forever hereafter
called and known by the name of Columbia College.”

Mr. George H. Moore in his Origin and Early History
of Columbia College remarks that King’s College emerged
from the Revolution ¢ with the new name of Columbia,
a word and name then for the first time recognized any-
where in law and history.”

The Regents of the University held their first meeting
on the third day after their appointment, at the house of
John Simmons, an innkeeper in Wall Street, New York
City, but there being no quorum present they adjourned
to the following day. On May 5 a quorum being pres-
ent, Governor George Clinton was elected Chancellor of
the University ; Lieutenant-Governor Pierre Van Cort-
landt, Vice-Chancellor; Brockholst Livingston, Treas-
urer ; and Robert Harpur, Secretary. The Treasurer
and the Secretary were instructed to ¢ demand and receive
from the late Treasurer and Clerk of the late corporation
of the College called King's College, and from any other
person or persons” all records, books and papers and all
property of whatever kind, *lately belonging to the said
late Corporation,” and “in case of refusal to deliver the
same to commence suits for the recovery thereof.” The
election of a President of the College was considered and
postponed. The Rev. John Peter Tetard, who had taught
a French school in New York before the Revolution and
had been, by appointment of the New York Provincial
Congress in 1775, French interpreter to General Schuyler
and “ Chaplin for the Troops of this Colony,” was elected
Professor of the French Language. Committees were
appointed to supervise the repairs of the College building,
to report by-laws, to devise a proper seal, to take meas-
ures for the recovery of moneys due the College on bonds,
mortgages, leases or otherwise, and to engage instructors
“for the term of twelve months.”
























CHAPTER VII
1787-1800
PRESIDENT WILLIAM SAMUEL JOHNSON

THE Trustees named in the Act met at the Exchange
in the city of New York on Tuesday, May 8, 1787, with
the Hon. James Duane, as Chairman, and completed their
organization by the election of Robert Harpur, as Secre-
tary, and Brockholst Livingston, as Treasurer. Mr. Har-
pur had been Professor in King’s College, 1761-1767 ; Mr.
Livingston, who served the College well as Trustee and
Treasurer from its reorganization in 1784, till his death
in 1823, and was for the last seven years of his life
Chairman of the Trustees, was the son of William Living-
ston who 8o bitterly opposed the granting of a Charter to
King’s College in 1754.

During the month of May, Professors Kunze, Bard, and
Romayne resigned their offices, so that there were, practi-
cally, when the Trustees assumed charge — in the Faculty
of Medicine, three Professors : Dr. McKnight, Anatomy
and Surgery ; Dr. Crosby, Midwifery ; Dr. Kissam, In-
stitutes of Medicine—in the Faculty of Arts, three
Professors : Mr. Cochran, Greek and Latin Languages ;
Dr. Kemp, Mathematics ; Rev. Dr. Gross, Geography and
German. Of Dr. Gross’s instruction in Geography the
following notice is interesting : —

« After the Revolution, Columbia College, having
dropped its royal name and patron as well as its To
President and Tory Professor of History, took a fres!
start under American auspices. An old broadside, pre-
served in the Columbia Library, contains the statutes
of the College for 1785, and a ‘Plan of Education,’
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CHAPTER VIII
1801-1811

PRESIDENTS CHARLES H. WHARTON AND BENJAMIN
MOORE

ON May 25, 1801, the Rev. Dr. Charles H. Wharton,
Rector of St. Mary’s Church, Burlington, New Jersey, was
elected President, signified his acceptance early in the
following August, and resigned the office December 11
of the same year. There is no record in the minutes of
the Trustees of his having rendered any collegiate ser-
vice, though Bishop Doane, in a notice of him, speaks of
his having presided at the Commencement. His accept-
ance of the presidency of the College did not sever his
connection with St. Mary’s Church, of which he continued
to be Rector till his death on July 28, 1833,

A Committee appointed to *consider and report re-
specting the office of President” reported on December
80, « That the Professorship which is annexed to the
office of President be detached from it ; that the Presi-
.dent be charged merely with a general Superintendence
of the Institution, including attendance on public Exami-
nations of the students, the presiding at Commencements,
and performing the services usually here performed by
the President ; and that there be a distinct Professor of
Moral Philosophy, Rhetoric and Belles-lettres and Logic.”

On the day following this report, the Right Reverend
Benjamin Moore, of the class of ’68, Bishop of New
York, who had been President pro tempore after the flight,
in 1775, of President Cooper, and was Professor of Rheto-
ric and Logic in the College 1784-1787, was elected Presi-
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96 A HISTORY OF COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

1810 Jersey, of which he was long a Director ; the Right Rev. Dr.
Jackson Kemper, the saintly Bishop, who devoted a large
part of his long and active life to the cultivation and
organization of Christian influence in the great West and
Northwest, the first missionary Bishop of the Episcopal
Church, primarily of Indiana and Missouri, and then of
the Northwestern Territory, and ending his noble career
as Diocesan of Wisconsin ; the Rev. Dr. John Henry Hill,
missionary in Greece, founder of the * American School,”
now the « Hill School,” in Athens for the education of
Greek children, whose labors for the education and eleva-
tion of woman in Greece received the marked approval of
the Greek Government by whose order he was buried
“ with the honors of a taxiarch.”” ¢“I can not but feel
self-gratulation and pride, I hope a virtuous one, when I
reflect on the number of eminent persons that have pro-
ceeded from the very cradle of Columbia College. Draw
at a venture from the old and illustrious seminaries of
England and Ireland the same number of names as we
had on our books, and I will venture to affirm that they
would not be superior to such men as Governor Clinton,
Chancellor Jones, the Rev. Dr. John M. Mason, and some
others.”!

1 Professor Cochran to Dr. Hosack : see Hosack's Memorial of Clinton.
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November, 1802, a committee was appointed “ to enquire 1816
and report on the Subject of finishing the Wing to the
College Building ; taking into Consideration the Pro-
priety of removing the College to some more convenient
Situation.” Nothing appears to have come from this
inquiry. In July, 1813, Mr., afterward Professor, Ren-
wick addressed to the Trustees a letter relative to certain
improvements of the College grounds. This letter was
referred to a committee, and the subject was considered
from time to time. At a Meeting of the Trustees on
March 14, 1816, the Committee was requested to inquire
“ whether an eligible site for a College could be found at
a8 distance from the City not greater than Art Street”
(now Astor Place). On their report, May 6 following,
a committee was directed to “negotiate for the purchase,
of the representatives of Anthony L. Bleecker deceased,
of a piece of ground near Colonel Varick’s place, contain-
ing thirty-two lots, and that they report to the Board,
with all convenient speed, the lowest price at which
the same can be obtained.” Two weeks later the com-
mittee reported * that the ground might be purchased for
seven hundred dollars a lot,” which the Board deemed
greater than was expedient for them to give, and the
matter was dropped.

A letter to the Trustees from Daniel D. Tompkins, Gov-
ernor of New York, an alumnus of the College of the class
of '95, dated February 27, 1817, enclosed a copy of a
resolution adopted by the Regents of the University
shortly before, and asked early consideration for it. The
resolution was as follows : —

« Resolved that it be and hereby is recommended to the
Trustees of Columbia College to unite in a consolidation
of the funds and property of said College with those of
Washington College on gtaten Island for which a Con-
ditional Charter has been granted ; if the consent of the
Corporation of Trinity Church can be obtained ; and that






























PRESIDENT HARRIS AND PROVOST MASON 111

evidence at hand of organized action by the Alumni as 1825
such ; it was followed on May 4, 1825, by « The Society
of the Alumni of Columbia College,” which was the fore-
runner of the present Alumni Association. Another
literary association established about this time (1824)
had an interesting history.! On the 4th of December,
1824, fifteen undergraduates and recent graduates of the
College, “desirous of occupying their leisure in exercises
for improvement in polite letters,” associated themselves
together under the name of the Chi Kappa Gamma Soci-
ety. Out of this grew «“ The Column,” a famous society
in its day, which was founded October 10, 1825, and * de-
signed to be subordinate to the Chi Kappa Gamma.” It
8oon outgrew the parent society, the meetings of which
accordingly declined in interest and were abandoned.
“ The Column ” had an active existence for over twenty
Years; it retained its separate life and identity until 1902,
when it was merged in the Century Association of New
York City, which, by the action of the sole surviving
members, the Hon. John Bigelow and Parke Godwin,
Esq., became the possessor of its traditions and of its
beautiful emblem, a silver column.

_ 1 Seo Columbia Literary Monthly, Volume II, p. 85, article by John B,
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1837 To increase the efficiency of the scientific courses,
$10,000 was appropriated for additions to the Library and
philosophical apparatus ; a collection of minerals having
been previously purchased for $2800 and a geological col-
lection of valuable specimens received from the State.

On the 13th of April, 1837, was celebrated the semi-
centennial anniversary of the reconstruction of the Col-
lege under the Act of the Legislature passed April 13,
1787. A joint committee appointed by the Trustees,
alumni, and students made the arrangements. On the day
set a procession was formed on the College Green at ten
in the morning, consisting of Trustees, Faculty, alumni,
and students of the College, Regents of the University,
public functionaries of the City, State, and Nation, and
other distinguished guests, and proceeded to St. John's
Chapel in Hudson Square. There an oration was delivered
by the Rev. Dr. Manton Eastburn, of the class of ’17,
then Rector of the Church of the Ascension in New York,
and afterward Bishop of Massachusetts. A poem written
for the occasion was recited by William Betts, of the class
of 20 ; a Latin ode, written by William C. Russell, of
the Class of ’82, and set to music, was sung ; and hono-
rary degrees were conferred upon William Cullen Bryant
and other persons distinguished in letters, law, and divinity.
A Greek ode written by Professor Anthon, of the class
of '15, was put into the hands of a musical composer,
with a view to its performance with the other at the cele-
bration ; but the composer not only failed to compose any
music, but mislaid the manuscript committed to him, and,
as no copy had been retained, lost the ode to posterity.
“In the evening the College Hall and Library, having
been illuminated and appropriately decorated, were thrown
open for the reception by the President of the Trustees,
Faculty, alumni, and students, with other friends of the
institution, who assembled in great numbers in honour of
the occasion.”
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1843 to the place of Adjunct Professor Vermilye, who had re-
signed; the President was to instruct the Senior Class in
classics, the Jay Professor, Dr. Anthon, taking charge of
the Freshmen, who had hitherto been taught by the Ad-
junct Professor. The salary of the Treasurer was reduced
to $400; the annual expense for printing was limited to
850, and for the Library was not to exceed $100; the sys-
tem of prize medals was abolished, as well as the liter-
ary and scientific course. The President was authorized
to employ, if necessary, an additional instructor in the
classics for the first term of the next academic year at an
expense not exceeding $200 —and so, by appointment of
the President, Henry Drisler, of the class of '39, began
a connection with the College destined to be prolonged
and distinguished. President Moore’s instruction of the
senior class in Greek was but of short duration, as in
February, 1844, he begged to be excused from that servioe,
and was excused, for the reason given by him “that he,
under conviction of expediency, a number of years ago
adopted the modern Grecian pronunciation of the Greek
language, and therefore finds himself unable to be intelli-
gible, profitable or interesting to his class.”









CHAPTER XI
1849-1864

PRESIDENT CHARLES KING

IN the fall of 1849 Dr. Moore retired from the presi-
dency and was succeeded by Charles King, a gentleman
of note in the city, a son of the Hon. Rufus King, who
had been a valuable Trustee of the College (1806-1824).
His accession was * widely hailed on the peculiar score
of being a public and a business man, opening thereby a
new sphere of popular influence, and creating a new bond
of sympathy between the College and the needs and wants
of our great commercial Metropolis.” ! Great and bene-
ficial changes occurred during President King’s incum-
bency of his office.

In his report to the Trustees on December 1, 1845,
President Moore said : *The general state of the College
may be regarded as encouraging. The Institution is
beginning to see its path clear of the financial difficulties
that have so long obstructed it.” Yet the College debt
became steadily larger. From a report of the Standing
Committee of the Trustees, made February 4, 1850, it ap-
pears that this debt will be found to have grown within
seventeen years last past from $30,000 to the sum of
$68,000, being an average annual expenditure, during
that period, of more than $2200 beyond the College in-
come. The hopes of the Trustees for relief seem to have
been based upon the prospective increase in the value of
the « Botanical Garden” property, heretofore referred to,
which “ consists of about two hundred and sixty Lots of

1 Professor McVickar's address at the inauguration of President King,

November 28, 1849.
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1853 On November 21, 1858, Professor Renwick’s recsigna-
tion, which had been offered some time previously, was
finally accepted with an expression on the part of the
Trustees of their just appreciation of his *long-tried,
eminent and faithful services in the cause of science and
sound instruction.” That they might testify, in a suitable
manner, their sense of his merits, the Trustees created an
order of Emeritus Professorships, without salaries or stated
duties, but with certain privileges and honors, and Dr.
Renwick was made Emeritus Professor of Natural and
Experimental Philosophy and Chemistry. He was in-
vited to sit for his portrait, which was to be provided at
the expense of the College and to be hung in the Library
or other suitable room in one of the College edifices.
Professor Renwick lived for ten years after this to enjoy
the honors that his merits had acquired and died aged
seventy-one years in January, 1863. In a minute upon
his death, the Faculty of the College speak of his active
labors in his Professorship * for the long period of thirty-
three years, those labours diversified yet increased by
occasional demands, during the summer vacations, by
Government for the aid of his acknowledged skill and
science. Among the most honorable of such duties, as
well as perilous, was his appointment by the General Gov-
ernment in 1838 as Commissioner for the survey of the
northeastern boundary.”  The Faculty say fucrther,
« Zeal for science was with him ever uppermost, and in
various public duties, more especially as connected with
the safety of steam, and in the advancement of private
associations of science, becoming in some the presiding,
and in all an influential manager, Professor Renwick con-
tinued both active and useful up to the very day of the
fatal attack under which he sank.”

The choice of a successor to Professor Renwick proved
to be a very serious matter. The controversy to which
it gave rise became somewhat warm and bitter, involved
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wherever they went, to carry the good and leave the bad 1857
behind —to go to the new locality with a clean record, and

to preserve it clean. At the close of the President’s re-
marks, a farewell song, written for the occasion by John
Ward, of the junior class, was sung to the tune of Auld
Lang Syne.

«In the course of the day the corner-stone of the Col-
lege building was disinterred. It is a solid block of red
sandstone, measuring three feet in length, one foot in
depth and one foot in thickness. The letters of the in-
scription are as fresh and sharp as the day they were cut.
It was buried about six feet under ground, on the South-
east corner of tlie old College building.”

(The “corner-stone ” was embedded in the east wall of
the College Chapel at 49th Street and there remained till
removed in 1897 and inserted in the mantelpiece of the
Trustees’ Room in the University Library on Morning-
side Heights.)

The New York Herald of May 4, 1857, refers to the
same subject : —

“By the terms of the sale the buyers of the Columbia
College property cannot claim possession before the tenth
of May,rimt the Faculty have been actively engaﬁed for
some time in getting ready for the removal. The Libra
books, cabinet minerals and portable pro(i)erty of the Col-
lege have all been packed and removed to the old Deaf
and Dumb Asylum in 50th Street, near Fourth Avenue,
which will be used hereafter as the College, until the new
edifice destined for the use of the students and Faculty is
erected on the College property in Fifth Avenue.

« The old Asylum has been completely refitted, and ac-
commodations have been provided for the President and
one of the Professors, with their families, in the building.
Should these new quarters prove acceptable to the stu-
dents, a lease of ten years will be taken, by which time
the new College will be ready for occupancy. The old
building on Park Place was put up in 17568, and this week
the work of demolition will commence.” (No *lease”
;vas to be taken, as the College acquired the property in

ee.)
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1857 The distance of the new location from the well-settled
portions of the city and the difficulty of access were so
considerable that the Treasurer and the President of the
College were (April 22) appointed “a Committee to con-
fer with the Direction or the officers of the Harlem and
other Rail Road Companies, and with the Proprietors of
any line or lines of Omnibuses, with a view to the estab-
lishment of suitable facilities for the conveyance of stu-
dents and others to and from the new College, and for
the arrangement of a price for such conveyance either
by commutation or for each trip.”

At the time referred to and for years afterward, Madi-
son Avenue was not paved above 42d Street and was not
open above 49th Street; ¢“the bones of the unknown
dead ” were removed from * Potters Field ” in the vicinity
during the summer and fall of 1858; there was no way of
getting across the railroad tracks on Fourth Avenue but
by crossing on the level; Bull’s Head cattle yards were on
Fifth Avenue, east side, just below the present site of the
Windsor Hotel; and the region about was as ‘“new ” as
these remarks would lead one to infer.

The demolition of the buildings in Park Place was begun
as soon as the College vacated them and was rapidly
effected. The following extract from the Evening Post
of May 11, 1857, notes the destruction of the old building
and the transfer to the new, and gives some account of the
«“new location ” as it then appeared.

“ CoLUMBIA COLLEGE. — The old College building in
Park Place is now entirely destroyed, and this morning
a force of workmen were employed in tearing off the roof
and undermining the walls. The transfer to the new
College building, between 49th and 50th streets (formerly
the Deaf and Dumb Asylum) was made without public
disEIa ,—a procession, addresses, and other doings were
tal et{y of, but abandoned from various considerations.
This morning the various classes assembled at the new
buildings, but as the work of repairing and refitting is not
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1889 day, Fourth of July, Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas.
There were the following prizes: Alumni Association
prize of 50 and two ‘“annual seminary prizes” as before
noted ; and the Chanler historical prize. There were four-
teen scholarships of the annual value of $100 each; four
offered for competition to members of the freshman class,
and five each to members of the sophomore and junior
classes respectively ; also two fellowships conferred annu-
ally by the Trustees on the written recommendation of the
Faculty upon such graduates as proposed to enter upon
a course of study for higher attainments, in letters or
science, and who were adjudged by the Faculty to be
capable of attaining, and likely to attain, distinction in
such course of study.

After twenty-five years of illustrious service as Presi-
dent, Dr. Barnard died on Saturday, April 27, 1889. He
made the College the residuary legatee of all that he pos-
sessed : one portion of the fund devised, “to the amount
of ten thousand dollars, to be set apart and to constitute
the foundation of a fellowship to be entitled ¢ The Barnard
Fellowship for Encouraging Scientific Research’: the an-
nual income from the sum so set apart to be devoted to the
support or partial support of some Alumnus of the School
of Arts, or of the School of Science known as the School
of Mines of Columbia College, who may be recommended
to the Trustees by the joint vote of the Faculties of the
said schools, as evincing decided aptness for physical in-
vestigation, and who may be disposed to devote himself
to such investigation for some years continuously.” The
remainder of the estate devised “to constitute a fund,
under the name of ¢The Barnard Fund for the Increase
of the Library’; the income from the same to be devoted
to the purchase, on account of the Library of Columbia
College, of such books as from time to time may be most
needed, but especially relating to physical or astronomi-
cal science ; selecting, in preference, those which may be
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« He possessed, with such men as Gladstone and Bis- 1889
marck (it is a very rare quality), the fervor in age that he
had in youth, and was as ready as he was before he had
secured position and fame, to take up a new idea, a
new project, and pursue it with as much vigor as if
a long life were still before him, and all his reputation

et to make. It was this quality that made him a great

resident to the very last. With almost his latest
breath, unable to write, and speaking with difficulty, he
dictated letters of counsel upon what was ever nearest his
great heart — Columbia College and her future.

«“The departure of such a man is a loss beyond ade-
quate expression. But he is not wholly lost. During
his long period of service, longer and more distinguished
than that of any of his predecessors, he so impressed him-
self upon the College in many vital particulars, that
though dead he yet speak for all time to come.”
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1896 lem Heights, as witness the following advertisement that
appeared in the Evening Post of October 25, 1814 : —

¢ Notice. Vincit amor patriee laudumque immensa cupido
... Virg.

“The students and former graduates of Columbia College,
together with such other young gentlemen as are desirous of
performing another day’s labour on Harlaem Heights, are re-
quested to assemble in the College Green on Wednesday, the
26th inst., at half past 6 o’clock, for the purpose of proceeding

to the same.
“ By order of the Committee.”

The College was not to take possession of the property
till January 1, 1895 (the date was afterward changed to
October 1, 1894), and rare opportunity was thus afforded,
and made use of, for careful consideration and adoption of
the best plans for its development for university pur-
poses.

The first corner-stone to be set in its place of any of
the new buildings was that of the Library, given by Mr.
Low as a memorial of his father, the late Abiel Abbot
Low; and this occurred December 7, 1895. In compli-
ance with the President’s request, the ceremonies were
vory simple and were held in presence of the Trustees and
a foew Professors and friends. The Rev. Dr. Van De
Water, Chaplain of the University, officiated at the ser-
vice, President Low laid the corner-stone, and the Rt.
Rov. Bishop Potter made a brief address.

The formal dedication of the new site and the laying
of the corner-stones of Schermerhorn Hall, the gift of
William C. Schermerhorn, of the class of ’40, Chairman
of the Trustees, and designed for the accommodation of
the natural sciences, and of the Physics Building, took
place on Saturday, May 2, 1896. At 12 o’clock on that
day, in the presence of a large number of alumni and
othor friends of Columbia, the ceremonies began with
the Physics Building ; the Rev. Dr. Marvin R. Vincent,
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of the class of ’54, officiated as Chaplain, Professor Ogden 1806
N. Rood, Professor of Physics, laid the corner-stone, and
an address was made by Professor J. H. Van Amringe,
of the class of '60, Dean of the College. Immediately
thereafter, at Schermerhorn Hall, the Rev. Dr. Dix, of
the class of '48, Rector of Trinity Parish, officiated as
Chaplain, the corner-stone was laid by Mr. Schermerhorn,
and Dr. Henry F. Osborn, Da Costa Professor of Zoélogy,
made an address. In the afternoon the site itself was
formally dedicated in the presence of five thousand people,
including the highest officers of the state and the city,
women representing all that is best in refined and culti-
vated society, and “ men renowned in law, literature, art,
science, and commerce.” The exercises were opened with
prayer by the Rev. Dr. Edward B. Coe. The first address
was made by President Low. “We are met to-day,”
said he, “to dedicate to a new use this historic ground.
Already it is twice consecrated. In the Revolutionary
War this soil drank the blood of patriots, willingly shed
for the independence of the land. Since then, for three
generations, it has witnessed the union of science and of
brotherly kindness devoted to the care of humanity suffer-
ing from the most mysterious of all the ills that flesh is
heir to. To-day we dedicate it, in the same spirit of
loyalty to the country and of devotion to mankind, to
the inspiring use of a venerable and historic University.”
The presentation of the national colors on behalf of
Lafayette Post, Grand Army of the Republic, was made
by Rear-Admiral Richard W. Meade, United States Navy,
Post Commander. On behalf of his comrades, he pre-
sented “to the President and Trustees of Columbia Uni-
versity, the flag of our country, to be hoisted at the staff
erected by Lafayette Post in front of the Library building,
where, resting upon a granite and bronze support, typical
of the enduring nature of the principles symbolized by
the banner of the nation, there will be found on the
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1896 pedestal, in letters of bronze, the charge to the students
of Columbia to ¢love, cherish and defend it.’”

President Low, in accepting the flag, said : * In the name
of the men of King’s College who fought for the indepen-
dence of the Colonies, and did so much to establish the
Government of these United States ; in the name of the
men of Columbia College who in the War of 1812 and in
the Mexican War fought under this flag in the country’s
quarrel ; and in the name of the men of Columbia Univer-
sity, who fought, as you fought, in the War for the pres-
ervation of the Union, and who helped to bring unscathed
out of the storm of the War this glorious flag, I pledge
you for this University that we shall ¢love, cherish, and
defend it.’”

The Dedication Ode in Latin, written by Dr. Harry
Thurston Peck, of the class of ’81, Professor of Latin,
was sung to the air « Integer vite.”

Then followed the principal address of the day by the
Hon. Abram S. Hewitt, LL.D., of the class of 42, a
former Mayor of the City of New York. In beginning
his noble oration, distinguished for learning, wisdom, and
eloquence, Mr. Hewitt said : —

¢« This occasion and these impressive ceremonies are in-
tended to recognize the trinity of religion, learning, and
patriotism. It is most fitting that such a conjunction
should be celebrated on these Morningside Heights, con-
secrated by the blood of heroes in a conflict which first
showed the ability of the Continental militia to hold their
own against trained British soldiers whose valor had been
proved on many a hard-fought field. It is meet and right
that the ministers of the churches which were associated
in the foundation of King’s College, and that the Bishop
and other clergy of the noble Cathedral which hard by is
slowly rearing its majestic proportions to Heaven, should
lend to this occasion the benediction of their presence and
their prayers. It accords with the fitness of things that
the Presidents and Faculties of the great sister Institutions
of Learning, which are the pride of the closing, and the
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names of its editors and even of its contributors are 1848
unknown. There appears to have been no publication
by the students after this, until 1848, when the series
of Annual Catalogues was begun. The first catalogue
was published by Stephen R. Weeks, who, as janitor,
assistant librarian and proctor, held for fifty years a unique
position in the life of the college community. In the
same year the senior class brought out a second Annual
Catalogue. The catalogue became thenceforth a regular
college year-book, published by the seniors and containing
information of interest to undergraduates, such as frater-
nity lists and the like. In 1857, owing partly to the
extravagance of the publication committee, as it was then
considered, and partly to other considerations, the book
was taken in hand by the Trustees, and out of it, under
their official management, was developed the regular
yearly catalogue of the University.

Columbia’s next literary venture was made in connection
with many other colleges, universities, and professional
schools, in a publication styled the University Quarterly.
This was a quarterly review of from one hundred and fifty to
two hundred pages and was conducted from New Haven by
“ An Association of Collegiate and Professional Students
in the United States and Europe.” It published essays,
literary, historical, educational, and “news articles” for
the various institutions represented. The first Columbia
article appeared in the number of April, 1860, and was an
historical and educational sketch of Columbia College by
J. Howard Van Amringe, the Columbia editor, who was
then a senior. Subsequent articles by Columbia men were
news articles by W. F. Whitehouse, E. Walter West, and
C. Sigourney Knox; an article by this last-named con-
tributor in July, 1861, is particularly interesting because
of the picture it gives of Columbia in the early war time.
Essays were contributed on Academic Ethics (anonymous) ;
the Library of Columbia College, by W. A. Jones, A.M.,
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1898 the aims of its founders. In the spring of 1898 Spectator
became a weekly and one year later a semi-weekly. At
the same time with this last change the publication aban-
doned its blue-and-white covers and took on the modern
newspaper form. In 1902 it became a daily paper, and
succeeded, in a short time, in installing its own printing
press in the basement of the old building styled « College
Hall.” It has a large clientele, as a thousand or more
students now lodge in neighboring houses and live near
the grounds, that promises to become larger with the
erection of college dormitories, the coming year, on the
newly acquired “ South Field.”

There are three active undergraduate literary societies :
Société Frangaise, Deutscher Verein, and King's Crown.
Société Francaise, founded in 1897, holds during the sea-
son fortnightly meetings, at which French only is spoken,
and presents, from time to time, a French play at the Col-
lege. Deutscher Verein, founded in 1898, has a large
active membership, cultivates the German Language and
German University customs, and occasionally gives recep-
tions to distinguished German visitors. In the spring of
1904 it gave on the College grounds a Kommers to the
German Minister, Baron Speck von Sternburg, his suite,
and invited guests. King’s Crown, founded in 1898, has
a large membership from the three upper college classes.
It aims not only at cooperation with the English literature
courses, but at being a great undergraduate club as well.
It holds two meetings every month during the academic
year. The first of these is a purely society meeting, at
which are discussed literary subjects and topics of present
College interest; the second is an open meeting, to which
the other undergraduate societies are usually invited, and
which is addressed in an informal way by some gentleman
of literary repute invited for the purpose. The list of
such speakers contains some of the most prominent names
in contemporary American letters. After the address
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incorporated. It now has a membership of over eight 1004
hundred, which is steadily increasing, and has, on lease
for a term of years, a beautiful, commodious, and well-
equipped club-house overlooking Madison Square. It
Provides rooms for meetings of alumni committees on col-
lege and university matters, has a growing library of Co-
lumbiana, maintains a good restaurant, provides dinners
for class reunions, enters heartily into the life of the
undergraduates by encouraging them and aiding them
in their various local and intercollegiate enterprises, and

las become a centre of generous activity and wholesome
fluence in the affairs of Columbia.



CHAPTER XV
1902-
PRESIDENT BUTLER

ON the sixth day of January, 1902, Nicholas Murray But-
ler, Ph.D., LL.D., of the class of 82, a man of high repute
and authority in educational matters, in this country and
abroad, Professor of Philosophy and Education, Dean of
the Faculty of Philosophy, Acting President of Columbia,
was unanimously elected President of the University and
a Trustee of the Corporation. The ceremonies attendant
upon his formal installation as President were held in the
University Gymnasium on Morningside Heights on the
afternoon of Saturday, April 19, in accordance with
the following programme : —

Prayers by the Rev. Dr. Marvin R. Vincent ; Address on
behalf of the Trustees by William C. Schermerhorn, Esq.,
Chairman of the Board ; Presentation of the Charter and
Keys of the University, and Installation of the President ;
Response by the President; Address on behalf of the
Faculties by Professor J. H. Van Amringe, Dean of the
College ; Address on behalf of the Alumni by R. Fulton
Cutting, Esq., class of 'T1; Address on behalf of the Stu-
dents by Allan Beach Arnold Bradley, President of the
senior class; Addresses by President Eliot of Harvard
University ; President Hadley, of Yale University; Presi-
dent Patton, of Princeton University ; President Harper,
of the University of Chicago; Dr. W. T. Harris, United
States Commissioner of Education ; Inaugural Address
by the President; Hymn: ¢ My Country, 'T is of Thee ;”
Benediction by the Right Rev. Dr. Henry C. Potter,
Bishop of New York.
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Of the numerous accounts given in the papers of the day, 1902
the following are from New York papers of April 20 : —
From the Tyibune : —

«“ The prestige of a great educational institution was
recognized on Morningside Heights yesterday afternoon
when Dr. Nicholas Murray Butler was installed as the
new President of Columbia University. Decorous pag-
eantry, graceful oratory, and the presence of a great com-
pany of prominent people helped to make the importance
of Columbia as a seat of learning more conspicuous. The
President of the United States, a personal friend of Dr.
Butler, was an honored guest at the installation. The
Governor of the state of New York, the Mayor of the
city of New York, other high public officials, presidents
of many American universities and colleges, and men of
prominence walked in the procession and listened to the
addresses. Enthusiasm over the ceremonies was increased
by perfect weather. The sunshine that flooded the campus
seemed to pervade the great assemblage. Thousands of
New Yorkers, who were uninvited and were kept back
from the grounds of the university, formed crowds and
watched the parade at a distance. Throughout the cere-
monial there was manifested the warmest interest in the
institution.”

From the ZTimes: —

“In the presence of the President of the United States
and of an academic company such as has seldom before
gathered together in this country, Doctor Nicholas Mur-
ray Butler was yesterday afternoon formally installed as
the President of Columbia University to succeed Seth
Low, who resigned to become Mayor of this city. The
occasion was pointed out as unique in many respects.
It was remarkable from the fact that it was one of the few
occasions in the history of the country upon which the
President of the nation has been the guest of honor and
listened for nearly three hours to speechmaking, while
he himself was not called upon to utter a word. Presi-
dent Roosevelt manifested his thorough enjoyment of the
exercises, however, by his applause, his attention, his
laughter, and, upon one occasion, his very decided gesture
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1002 of delight. -The occasion was unique in the fact that it
marked the coming together upon the platform of a uni-
versity of the President of the United States, the Governor
of the State, and the Mayor of this city —and all of them
former students of that institution. President Roosevelt
is a graduate of Harvard, but he studied law at Columbia.
It was the first time, also, since the first year of Washing-
ton’s administration, that a President of the United States
has paid an official visit to Columbia University.”

«As an academic pageant, those who witnessed yester-
day the installation of President Butler are ready to bear
witness that New York has never offered anything ap-

roaching to it. The weather was all that could be hoped
or, and much more than could be reasonably expected
on the 19th of April. Though the hall in which the
exercises took place is provisional and to be superseded in
due time by the University Theatre for such purposes as
it served yesterday, it is by no means an unimpressive or
an undignified interior. It is ample in dimensions, not, of
course, to accommodate all who desired to see the installa-
tion, but to hold all that it canaccommodate, and, it may be
added, to accommodate all that it will hold. Tickets were
issued for no more than the place would seat with conven.
ience and dignity, and every guest could well see and hear
all that went on. The same good judgment which presided
over the issue of tickets was brought to bear on all details
of the arrangement. Everything went off perfectly and
punctually because everything had been carefully thought
out beforehand. And the procession not only had those
elements of intellectual interest which belong to every
assemblage of the eminent and wise ; it was also very
well worth looking at merely as a spectacle. This is
hardly the occasion on which to review the speeches of
the installation, of which naturally the most important
and inviting was that in which the new President made
his educational profession of faith. But the spirit that
breathed through all the speeches was that of congratula-
tion and jubilation that the greatest city in the country
had vindicated its claim to be regarded as the seat of one
of the great universities of the country.”

The Installation Dinner given by the alumni to Presi-
dent Butler took place at Sherry’s on the evening of the
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1908 and there have been added to the four blocks occupied
by the University the two city blocks immediately south
of them, known as “South Field,” on a portion of which
the corner-stones of ¢ Hartley Hall,” a college dormitory,
for which the sum of $350,000 was given by Marcellus
Hartley Dodge, of the class of 1903, and his aunt, Mrs.
Helen Hartley Jenkins, and a second dormitory to be
erected by the Trustees, are to be laid on October 31,
1904, the one hundred and fiftieth anniversary of the
founding of the College.

He has set himself, more suo, with promptitude and
clearness of vision, to solve three great and pressing
problems : —

The financial problem—¢ Columbia University, as now
organized and equipped, may be likened to a giant in
bonds. Strength, power, zeal for service are all at hand,
but the bonds of insufficient funds hold them in on every
side. In plainest language, Columbia University in 1902
is without adequate grounds and buildings and without
sufficient income to care properly for the work that has
already been undertaken, even if not a single extension
of the work now in progress be planned. Columbia
College, in which 492 undergraduates have been enrolled
in 1901-1902, is without any building whatever for aca-
demic purposes, and the instructors and students are
temporarily assigned to most unsuitable and inadequate
quarters.” The administrative problem —¢In almost
every case the university administration of to-day is merely
an expansion of the methods and the machinery charac-
teristic of the administration of the small colleges of
yesterday out of which the universities have grown. Ad-
ministrative work has been done by teachers in active ser-
vice, and either as deans or as members of important
committees they have divided their time between their
books and laboratories and their classes on the one hand and
their office duties on the other.” ¢ The wisest tendency
in administrative development is, I am sure, to relieve
teachers and investigators from every unnecessary demand
upon their time and strength.” The educational problem—
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“Not a few matters of importance have been definitely 1808
settled at Columbia during the past twenty years, and
settled, I believe, in almost every case, with wisdom and
in accordance with sound principle. For example, it is
settled policy at Columbia (1) that the requirements for
admission to the freshman class of Columbia College shall
not be raised beyond the point where they can be met by
the student who has had a normal secondary school course
of four years; (2) that these requirements, and those for
admission to the Schools of Applied Science, the College of
Physicians and Surgeons, Barnard College, and Teachers
College as well, shall be stated in terms of the definitions
formulated by the representative organizations of teachers
of the several subjects, and administered, in codperation
with other colleges and with secondary schools, through the
College Entrance Examination Board ; (8) that a just bal-
ance shall be maintained between prescribed and elective
studies in the undergraduate course, the student being in
every case guided or supervised in his selection of subjects ;
(4) that Columbia College shall offer but a single degree,
that of Bachelor of Arts, and that that degree s%mll repre-
sent the elements of a liberal education as it is conceived
and defined by the Faculty of Columbia College ; (5) that
the several technical and professional schools shall rest
upon a college course (though not necessarily one four
years in length) as a foundation, either at once —as in
the case of the School of Law — or as soon as practicable
—as in the case of the Schools of Applied Science and
of Medicine; and (6) that all possible means shall be
taken to shorten the time in which a college degree and
a professional or technical degree may be taken, by co-
operation between the Faculty of Columbia College and
the Faculties of Law, Medicine, Applied Science, and
Teachers College.

« Significant as these matters are, and seriously as they
affect the relations of Columbia University to the public
welfare, there are still others which claim attention and
which yield to none in importance. Of these I may men-
tion at this time five : The maintenance of educational
efficiency ; the promotion of research; the better organ-
ization of the teaching of the natural sciences; the de-
velopment of the social side of academic life through the

provision of dormitory accommodations for students ; and
o
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18 the length of the College course and the relation of that
course to the rest of the work of the University.”!

The “ College, which is the oldest part of Columbia
University, and in a sense the mother of all the rest,” is
sure of the President’s sympathetic interest and cordial
support : —

“The college, a8 we have it, is peculiar to our national
system of education, and is perhaps its strongest, as it
certainly is its most characteristic, feature. It breaks
the sharp transition which is so noticeable in Europe be-
tween the close surveillance and prescribed order of the
secondary school and the absolute freedom of the Uni-
versity. Its course of liberal study comes just at the
time in the student’s life to do him most good, to open
and inform his intelligence, and to refine and strengthen
his character. Its student life, social opportunities, and
athletic sports are all additional elements of usefulness
and of strength. It has endeared itself to three or four

nerations of the flower of our American youth, and it
18 more useful to-day than at any earlier time. I am
anxious to have it preserved as part of our educational
system and so adjusted to the social and educational
conditions which surround us that a college training may
be an essential part of the higher education of an Ameri-
can whether he is destined to a professional career or to a
business occupation.” «Ifind myself in hearty agreement
with the recently expressed opinion of President Jordan
of Stanford University that ¢in the long run, the greatest
University will be the one that devotes the most care to
its undergraduates,’ and for that reason I believe that too
much care and attention cannot be given to the students
in Columbia College.” 2 :

The alumni of Columbia College hope, therefore, and
expect that their alma mater, dedicated one hundred and
fifty years ago to the instruction of youth in the learned
languages and in the liberal arts and sciences, to the pro-
motion of religion and learning, will steadily advance in

1 President Butler’s Annual Report, 1002, 2 Ibid.
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dignity, usefulness, and power, ever striving to realize the 1908
ideal eloquently expressed by President Butler in his in-
augural address : It keeps step with the march of prog-
ress, widens its sympathies with growing knowledge, and
among a democratic people seeks only to instruct, to up-
lift, and to serve, in order that the cause of religion and
learning and of human freedom and opportunity may be
continually advanced from century to century and from

age to age.”
J. H. VAN AMRINGE.
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BOOK TWO

THE UNIVERSITY AND NON-PROFESSIONAL
GRADUATE SCHOOLS

CHAPTER 1
THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE UNIVERSITY

WHEN we speak to-day of universities in the United
States, we use the term in a somewhat novel sense, for
the American universities are not precisely analogous to
those of England or of France or of Germany. The
American university may include more than one college
of the English type, but it is not, like the English
university, primarily a collection of colleges. The Amer-
ican university includes and administers a number of
separate schools, collegiate, professional, and technologi-
cal, and these are more or less independent in their or-
ganization and activity; but it is not, like the French
university, merely a name for the central direction and
control of these educational units. The American uni-
versity, finally, may have all, and always has some, of the
traditional university faculties of continental Europe —
theology, law, medicine, and philosophy; but these are
not yet generally correlated, as in Germany, either with
the collegiate course or with one another. Moreover the
American university, which in most cases has grown up
about a collegiate nucleus, retains the college. It has
not, like the German university, abandoned to the pre-
paratory school or gymnasium all the disciplinary years

of general education. It is also more catholic in its
199
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1004 Columbia was almost the last, not indeed to attempt, but
to achieve the beginnings of university development. Dur-
ing its first century of existence no effort to widen its ac-
tivities had been permanently successful. In its hundred
and fourth year it was still a small college, with only a
dozen instructors and about one hundred and fifty stu-
dents. During its fifth quarter of a century it gained
three professional schools: two of its own creation, the
Schools of Law and of Mines, the third by a treaty of alli-
ance with the College of Physicians and Surgeons. All
these throve and grew strong. Within the School of
Mines there developed other schools of applied science.
Law and science, however, were unrelated to the College
or to one another, and the union with the College of Phy-
sicians and Surgeons was merely nominal. At the close
of this second period Columbia was hardly a university;
it was an intevesting and promising aggregation of nearly
a hundred instructors and fourteen hundred students.

In its sixth quarter of a century (1880-1904), Co-

’ lumbia established three graduate schools of non-profes-
! sional instruction and research; put its Law School on
a graduate basis, and lengthened the law course to three
years ; brought its School of Medicine into real union
with the rest of the University, raised the standard of
admission here also, and extended the medical course to
four years ; increased by further specialization of courses
the number of its schools of applied science ; added to
them a School of Architecture, separated it from them
and placed it with music in an inchoate faculty of fine
arts ; established such relations of reciprocity with the
principal theological seminaries of New York City as to
make these institutions, as far as the free movement of
students is concerned, portions of its educational system ;
gained, by treaties of affiliation, a second undergraduate

“ college, for women, and an additional professional school,
‘ for the training of teachers; and developed a large summer
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1764~ matters, it was not good-will but money that was lacking.

1857 In 1830 the Trustees established a “ scientific and literary
course,” parallel to the classical course. At the same
time they determined to establish sixteen public lecture-
ships, with a range of topics extending over the fields of
literature, philosophy, natural science, pure and applied,
and the political sciences. The lectures were to be opened
not only to matriculated students but to the public, on
payment of a small fee for each course. The lectureships,
however, were apparently to be maintained by the fees
received from students, and few of them were even tem-
porarily filled. In 1848 the literary and scientific course,
which in its thirteen years had attracted but forty-nine
students, was discontinued.

I1. Efforts to develop professional education. — For pro-
fessional instruction in theology, medicine, and law the
Governors of King’s and the Trustees of Columbia College
were from the beginning anxious to provide suitable
opportunities. In the additional charter of 1755, pro-
vision was made for a professorship of divinity, the in-
cumbent of this chair to be appointed, from time to time,
by the ministers, elders, and deacons of the Reformed
Protestant Dutch Church in the city of New York. No
appointment was ever made. In 1768 the Governors of
King’s voted to establish a department of medical instruc-
tion “as soon as their funds will enable them to do so.”

 In 1767 & Medical School was established with a Faculty
of six professors, and in 1769 medical degrees “in course”
were conferred upon two students. This was not the first
medical school in America; that established in Phila-
delphia antedated it by five years ; but it was the first
connected with a college, and it was the first to give de-
grees in course. Its activity, like that of the College, was
interrupted by the Revolution. When the College was
reorganized under the name of Columbia, in 1784, the
Regents of the University of the State of New York, to
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whom its government was committed, determined to estab- 1754~
lish four faculties; viz., Arts, Medicine, Law, and Divinity. 1867
The latter was to consist of such professorships as might be
established by the different religious societies within the
state. The law faculty was to be composed, at the outset,

of three professors. Neither of these faculties came into
existence. The Medical Faculty, however, was reéstab-
lished as well as the Faculty of Arts; and when, in 1787,
Columbia College was placed under the control of its own
Trustees, the Medical School was carried on, as before the
Revolution, as a part of the College. In 1792 it was re-
organized, but in 1813 it was discontinued, its Faculty J
being absorbed by the independent College of Physicians
and Surgeons, established in 1807. During its nominal
existence of forty-six years and actual existence of thirty-
eight years, the King’s-Columbia School of Medicine
graduated thirty-five doctors.

As early as 1773 the Governors of King's created a
professorship of natural law. The natural law theories
prevalent at the time were decidedly revolutionary ; but
the occupant of this chair, the Rev. John Vardill, was a
Tory. It is not clear that he ever assumed the duties of
his professorship; and it was discontinued in 1776. In
1792, the legislature having granted to Columbia College
an annual subsidy for a term of years for salaries of new
professors, the Trustees decided that among others a pro-
fessorship of law should be established ; and in 1798
James Kent was appointed to this chair. In 1798 he
resigned, and, as the legislative grant was not renewed,
the professorship was discontinued. In 1823, however,
Kent again became professor of law, and although in the
later years of his life he delivered no lectures, he retained
the chair until his death in 1847. His “ Commentaries,”
published 1826-1830, were the outcome of his professional
activity. In 1848 William Betts was appointed professor
of law. In 1854 he resigned and the professorship was
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1764- again discontinued. At the close of Columbia’s first cen-
1857 tury there was, accordingly, no provision for professional
education.

II1. Efforts towards university organization. — The plan
of 1784, by which Columbia College was to be the nucleus
of a state university, with all the four traditional faculties,
has been already noticed. As this programme was formu-
lated by the State Regents during their brief control of
the reorganized Columbia, their action does not, of itself,
furnish any indication of the ideals and aspirations of the
College. The plan was, however, anticipated, and per-
haps suggested, by proposals which emanated from the
Governors of King’s College ten years earlier. In the
British archives? there still slumbers a proposed charter,
establishing “ The American University in the Province of
New York.” This charter was drafted by order of the
Governors of King’s College, was formally approved by
them August 4, 1774; was forwarded by Lieutenant-
Governor Cadwallader Colden to Governor William
Tryon, then in England; and was by him submitted,
February 17, 1775, to Earl Dartmouth, at that time
principal secretary of state for the American department.
Its chief provisions were that King’s College should be
“the mother of the American University ”; that King’s
and all other colleges which should hereafter be erected
within the province of New York should be members of a
single university to be known as “ The American Univer-
gity in the Province of New York ”; that the government
of the new University should be intrusted to a body of
Regents; that this body should be constituted by adding
to the existing Board of Governors of King’s College a
number of new honorary Regents resident in the mother
country, and by empowering the Governors resident in
America to add so many inhabitants of the province of
New York or of neighboring provinces as should make the

1 Colonial Papers: America and West Indies, vol. 185, folio 56.
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Regents amount to the number of fifty, exclusive of the 1754-
official Regents resident in Great Britain and Ireland. 1851
The officers of the University were to be a chancellor and
a vice-chancellor ; King’s College and each other college
belonging to the University was to have a president and a
vice-president. A sort of executive committee of twelve,
to be styled the “ Academical Senate,” might be chosen by
the Regents, and this Senate might be intrusted with the
general control of university education and discipline. A
“ minor academical senate ” might be created for the gov-
ernment of any of the colleges; it should consist of the
President and the several fellows, professors, and tutors,
and should exercise such powers as the Regents might
grant it. The corporation was to send two representa-
tives to the General Assembly of the province; and the
electoral body by which such representatives were to be
chosen was to be composed of the Regents, professors,
fellows, and tutors of the University, and of the masters
of arts and other holders of superior degrees.

The projected ¢ American University” was -clearly
modelled on the English Universities ; it was to be a uni-
versity of colleges. With the development of colleges
locally separated, it might have approached the French
type of university. The only hint in the proposed charter
of university expansion in our modern American sense is
to be found in a clause empowering the new University to
grant “all such degrees, as well in philosophy and in the
municipal law of England as in all and every other art,
science, and faculty whatsoever, as are or may be conferred
by all or any of the universities in England or in Ireland.”

The charter was considerately put in such form that to
become immediately effective it needed only the royal
signature and seal —and the filling in of two blank
spaces. One, of three lines, was left open for such new
professorships as the King might see fit to found ; the

other, of two pages, for such new endowments as he might
P
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1868- Professor Dwight, however, Columbia had secured the
greatest legal instructor of the time; and his lectures
proved so attractive that his engagement was made per-
manent. In 1864 he was made Warden of the Columbia
Law School, a position which he retained until 1891. In
establishing a department of law, in 1858, the Trustees had
intended to make provision, primarily, for preparing stu-
dents for admission to the bar ; but it was also their inten-
tion to provide instruction in other and higher branches,
not absolutely necessary to such admission. Their hope in
this was that «if a large number of students be drawn into
the school, it will probably not be difficult to induce them
to attend the superadded studies and thereby acquire that
more elevated learning which it is the object of the Col-
lege to extend.” In the early years of the school, Pro-
fessor Lieber gave instruction in public law, Professor
Nairne in the ethics of jurisprudence, Professor John Or-
dronaux in medical jurisprudence; and several eminent
members of the bar, including William M. Evarts, were
enlisted as lecturers on special topics. All the prescribed

; courses of instruction, however, were conducted for twenty
"years by Professor Dwight; and he made the school simply
fand solely an avenue to the bar. ¢ Lieber’s audience of
students seldom rose above four members, and Nairne'’s
was usually one. At last this one disappeared, and Nairne
refused to try any longer, unless specially ordered by the
Trustees. The order was never issued and the subject
of ethics disappeared from the curriculum of the Law
School.”! Lieber died in 1872, and the instruction in
public law fell into abeyance until the appointment of
Professor Burgess, first as lecturer, in 1875, then as pro-
g fessor in 1876. The first result of the attempt to develop
university instruction was thus the creation of a profes-

1Remarks by Professor John W. Burgess, in Committee of the Univer-
sity Council, February 24 and April 6, 1893, on the Degrees of Master of
Arts and Doctor of Philosophy. Printed for the University, 1893.
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proprietary school, but, owing to the inadequate resources 1858-
of Columbia College, the Schools of Law and of Mines were 57
established on practically the same basis, the professors
receiving no remuneration except from the fees of the
students. Under such conditions the Columbia authorities {
could have no effective control over the conditions of |
admission or of graduation. The educational standard ‘!
could not equitably be raised without compensating the '
professors for the prospective loss of income. In the case
of the School of Mines this state of things was happily of
brief duration. The Law School, however, remained on
this basis until 1878, and the Medical School until its
complete union with Columbia University in 1891.

During the following fifteen years (1865-1879) no new
educational enterprises were attempted. The energies of
the corporation were fully occupied in the task of pro-
viding the College and the School of Mines with suitable
accommodations and equipment, so far as this was possible
on the 49th Street site. The School of Law developed in
Great Jones Street as independently as the College of
Physicians and Surgeons in 23d Street.

During this period President Barnard kept constantly
before the Trustees, the Faculties, and the public the ideal
of university development. When the condition of the
College at his installation in 1864 is considered, and
when it is remembered how recently an ambitious plan
of university development had failed of accomplishment,
it is hard to rate too highly the prompt courage with
which he adopted the university policy or the stubborn
faith with which he predicted its ultimate triumph. In
his inaugural address Dr. Barnard said :

“ Our present beginnings may be the means of drawing
to us such aid from those to whom the prosperity of this
College is dear, or who would not willingly see the insti-
tutions of this magnificent city inferior to those of ma::{
minor towns, as may enable us to present, as time ad-
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:88- dents were to receive the degree of bachelor of arts; on

- completion of all the courses, and after successful examina-
tion therein, students were to receive the degrees of master
of arts and doctor of philosophy ; *and if in addition to the
courses in this department the student shall have received
the degree of bachelor of laws, either from the Law School
of this University or from any other school of municipal
iaw in good standing, the degree shall be that of doctor
of civil law.” The reasons assigned for establishing this
department were to provide adequate training for the civil
service of the government, and to develop all branches
of the political sciences. ¢“It is the bounden duty of a
aniversity, worthy the name, to teach all that has been
zathered in the world’s experience in this as well as in all
cher departments of superior knowledge, and to add con-
unually thereto.”

The antecedent history of this proposal was as follows.
in 1375 Professor Burgess, then occupying the chair of
ustory and political science at Amherst College, was
-nvited to deliver a course of lectures upon public law at
‘nw Coiumbia Law School. In the following year he was
:sued t0 Columbia as professor of history, political science,
ad cnternational law, with a seat in the Faculty of the

‘cueye is well as in the Law Faculty. In 1877 Rich-
avad Mavo-Smith, who had studied at Amherst under
"wwessur Burgess and subsequently for two years in

-ermauy. was appointed tutor in history in the College;

= .S e devame adjunct professor of political economy

. +aun science.  In the College Professors Burgess

-a >lase-Smith had free hand in organizing general his-

uaae - seiruction and elementary teaching in political

.t v. .0 the Law School Professor Burgess found it
. semmmentt 22 develop the department of public law or to
e tw study of foreign law and comparative juris-
wcaim. i@ the year 1875, as Professor Burgess has
_= e -Sauw Lrustees resolved to . . . attempt to
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reintroduce [into the Law School] those branches of 1880-
jurisprudence lost . . . by the death of Lieber and the 104
withdrawal of Nairne. They resolved that the period of
study in the Law School should be extended from two to
three years, with the purpose that courses in political his-
tory, public law, and political science should form parts of

the curriculum required for the attainment of the degree.” !
This change, however, was successfully opposed by Pro-
fessor Dwight. In 1879 Professor Burgess was con-
vinced that he had failed to realize the purpose for which

he had been called to Columbia, namely ¢to neutralize
the intense professionalism of the Law School by sup-
plementing the studies in private law . . . with those
studies in ethics, history, and public law necessary to com-
plete the science of jurisprudence.”

“I frankly told the Trustees my conviction. . . . I told
them, however, that I was still unwilling to have any com-
pulsion exercised . . . in regard to a reform of the law
curriculum, and that I thought there was another way out

of the difficulty. . . . I then laid before them the plan l
for the creation of a faculty of political science, which
should teach all the branches of history, sociology, eco- |
nomics, public law, and comparative jurisprudence, and
should be empowered to induce the law students to pursue
these studies by the offer of [higher]Pdegrees. ... The
purpose for which the School of Political Science was
created [was] the education of the rulers of the country

— for the lawyers are the rulers of the country — in those
subjects which will properly prepare them for their high-

est work.”3 '

President Barnard accepted the plan with much warmth,
incorporating it with his own in his communication of
February 25 to the committee on the course. He insisted
particularly upon the consideration that such a course of
study as Professor Burgess proposed would serve to pre-

1 Remarks on the Degrees of Master of Arta and Doctor of Philosophy,
cited above. 2 Ibid.

Q
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1880- “ as soon as satisfactory arrangements can be made for the
1904 purpose.”

The committee also reported a statute establishing a
School of Political Science, *designed to prepare young
men for the duties of public life.” The school was to
be conducted by Professors Burgess and Mayo-Smith
with the assistance of two new lecturers. The conditions
of admission and the course of study were those which

/’Professor Burgess had proposed ; the degrees to be
Jawarded were those proposed by President Barnard, viz.,
Ph.B. and Ph.D. A point in which the committee
~~_departed from the plan proposed by Professor Burgess
and endorsed by the President touched the relation of the
new course of study to the undergraduate curriculum.
Professor Burgess had proposed that the first year lectures
in political science should be thrown open to seniors in the
College. President Barnard had proposed a more liberal
elective system in the College, which, if accepted, would
have made Professor Burgess’s plan feasible. The com-
mittee was unwilling to allow to undergraduates a larger
liberty in the selection of their studies. Thus the new
school, instead of footing in the College, as Professor Bur-
gess — following in this point the plan of 1857 —had
proposed, was organized wholly outside of the College,
with what was practically a competing senior year, handi-
capped by an inferior degree.

! The Trustees who were especially interested in the
establishment of the School of Political Science, and to
whose exertions its establishment was chiefly due, were
Justice Blatchford, Hon. Hamilton Fish, Stephen P. Nash,
and Samuel B. Ruggles. Two of these, Messrs. Fish and
Ruggles, had participated actively in the university move-
ment of 1857-1858. To Mr. Ruggles, the establishment
of the School of Political Science was a renewal of that
movement ; and when, on June 7, 1880, the report of the
committee on course was adopted by the Board of Trustees,
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1880- two years’ study ; December 3, 1883, that but one doctor’s
degree should be conferred, that of doctor of philosophy.
The system of non-residential study and examination
on prescribed reading attracted very few candidates, nor
was it long maintained. The graduate instruction that
was offered in 1880 and actually organized in 1881 drew
to the College (or rather, held in the College, for the
number drawn from outside was very small) a gradually
increasing body of resident students. From 1881 to 1885
the average number was twelve ; from 1885 to 1890 it was
twenty-nine. The average number of graduate students
in the School of Mines (where tuition of graduates had
now ceased to be gratuitous) was far smaller.

In the meantime what was practically a new school
had been established in connection with the School of
Mines. A department of architecture was organized in
1881 and placed under the direction of Professor William
R. Ware. In its development the engineering side of
architecture was so increasingly subordinated to the artis-
tio that the separation of this school from the Schools of
Applied Science, which occurred in 1902, was only a
formal recognition of a long-accomplished fact.

In 1886 there was opened, at Columbia, a school for
training librarians. It was described as a ‘“School of
Library Economy,” and was under the direction of Libra-
rian Melvil Dewey. This was the first department of
Columbia to which women were admitted as resident stu-
dents. The school was transferred to Albany in 1889,
when Mr. Dewey resigned his position at Columbia to
become State Librarian.

The further development of the University, and particu-
larly the further development of non-professional graduate
instruction, were closely connected with a new movement,
that of university organization. To President Barnard
expansion was of supreme interest; problems of organiza-
tion had for him little attraction. In his report of 1883
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1880- The Faculties of Law and of Political Science and the

904 minority of the College Faculty further recommended
the establishment of a university senate, which should be
composed of the President and of two or three representa-
tives from each of the university faculties (Law, Political
Science, Natural Science, and Philosophy). This senate
was to have, subject to the control of the Trustees, the
general direction of the educational policy of the Univer-
sity, at least in all matters of common concern, including
the undergraduate curriculum.

It should be noted that at that time, as now, many pro-
fessors sat in more than one Faculty. In the four Facul-
ties (College, Law, Mines, Political Science) there were,
in all, thirty-two professors. The so-called ‘university
party,” which presented the plan for the establishment of
a faculty of philosophy and for the constitution of a uni-
versity senate, was a minority party, numbering eleven.

February 14, 1889, the Trustees’ committee on the
elevation of the course appointed a committee, consisting
of Acting President Drisler, Professor Thomas Randolph
Price, and Adjunct Professor Nicholas Murray Butler, « to
prepare and submit a plan for a university faculty of phi-
losophy (i.e. of letters, philology, and philosophy).” Pro-
fessor Butler was at that time the junior member of the
professorial body, as Professor Drisler was the senior. On
October 28, the majority of this committee presented a
report suggesting a wider faculty of philosophy, which
should include mathematics and the natural sciences, his-
tory, political philosophy, and sociology ; proposing that
courses under this faculty should be open only to students
holding the first degree, who should previously, in their last
college year, have pursued elective courses in the depart-
ments in which they desired to prosecute their university
studies ; and recommending that the degree of master of
arts should be conferred upon graduate students after one
year and the degree of doctor of philosophy after three years.
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1880- body, without definite powers. It was practically a Pres-
1904 ident’s council. It was in particular to “advise the
President as to all matters affecting the master’s and
doctor’s degrees, the correlation of courses, the extension
of university work in new and old fields, and generally as
to such matters as the President may bring before it.”
Two years later, June 6, 1892, the Trustees gave to the
Council definite administrative and legislative powers.
As regarded the non-professional Faculties it obtained the
position of an upper house. Asregarded the other Facul-
ties it received no legislative powers, but it was clothed
with the right and charged with the duty of making recom-
mendations, not only to the several Faculties but to the
Trustees, concerning the educational administration of the
University. At the same time the power of nominating
members was withdrawn from the President, and the
Council became purely representative.

At the close of the same month in which the reorgani-
zation of the University was accomplished (May 81, 1890),
the Faculty of Arts (College) unanimously resolved that
courses designated by the Faculties of Philosophy, Law,
Mines, or Political Science as open to students who had
completed the junior year in the School of Arts or in any
other college maintaining an equivalent curriculum), should
be recognized as elective studies in the senior year. This
¢ resolution was referred by the Trustees to the President
and Council with power; and receiving the unanimous
approval of the Council, it was put in force in the follow-
ing autumn. When the College of Physicians and Sur-
geons became an integral part of the University, a similar
resolution was adopted concerning courses recommended
by the Faculty of Medicine. The senior year of the
College thus became in effect a university year. The
result, as President Low remarked in his report of 1892,
was not only to enrich the curriculum of the College, but
to make it possible for those men who take both the A.B.

b
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degree and the professional degree to shorten their period 1880-
of college and university study by one year. In recent 1
years,” he continued, ‘all professional courses have been
lengthened. . . . The tendency of lengthening the pro-
fessional course . . . is to lead men to omit the college
course altogether. It is believed that the system intro-
duced at Columbia will do much to offset this unfortunate
tendency.” In 1894 he reported : “ As a whole, the plan
has proved an unqualified success. . . . A very signifi-
cant illustration of the effect of the system is seen in the
increasing number of Columbia graduates who remain in
the University after receiving the first degree.” In 1895,
in discussing the possibility of raising the standard of
admission to all the professional schools ¢ until a liberal
training equivalent to the old-time college course is
demanded as a condition for admission to every one of
them,” he pointed out that the most serious obstacle to
such a policy was the length of the combined college and
professional courses. If these were not shortened, “ only
one result can follow : the colleges will be syphoned of
their intending professional students, and such students
will go direct from the high schools to the schools of law
and medicine.” He recommended accordingly that certain .
pre-professional studies be made elective in the junior year. *

In 1896 a further step was taken. The College adopted
a new curriculum, which went into effect July 1, 1897,
and which made it possible for students intending to
enter any one of the Columbia Schools of Applied Science
to anticipate two years of professional work, and to secure
both the college degree and the professional degree in six
years.

This *“Columbia plan,” as it has come to be known
in educational discussion, has been adopted by several
American universities, and a large number of independent
colleges have introduced semi-professional or professional
studies in the later years of the baccalaureate course.
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3me- Objection to the plan has been raised on two grounds,
I viz.: that it is not open and above-board, in that it classes
among college students those who have really become
professional students, and that it is pedagogically unsatis-
factory, in that it divides the students’ interests and alle-
giance between the college and the professional school.
In the years 1902-1904, in consequence of President But-
Ier’s suggestion that all professional study at Columbia
should be based on a two-year college course, and that a
fixrst degree or certificate might be given to all students
who should satisfactorily complete such a course, the
existing system was resubjected to full discussion; and
the University Council, at a special meeting held March 5,
1904, recommended by a four-fifths majority that the
shortened courses for the collegiate and professional de-
grees should not only be retained but should be further
developed. The Council plan would involve the award
of the first degree on any of the following combinations,
wis.: a three-year college course and one year of study
wader the Faculties of Political Science, Philosophy, or
Pare Science ; a three-year college course and one year
of legal study ; a two-year college course and two years
of study under any of the other professional Faculties.
The Council further recommended that students pursu-
g courses offered by a professional Faculty, not as a
Yart of their general education but with a professional
sim, should be primarily registered in the professional
whool and placed under the jurisdiction of its Faculty ;
sad that unless they should be so registered, the courses
pwrswed by them should not count toward the professional
Uwntil 1898 students who had completed the junior year
sUNRer colleges maintaining an equivalent curriculum, and
wde then became seniors at Columbia, enjoyed the privi-
ape of eclecting a full year of professional study. Since
#WNL tme, in consequence of a resolution adopted by the
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1880- in leading American colleges and universities. The fact

1004

that such appointments were being made attracted other
graduate students of the same class ; and when instruc-
tors trained at Columbia began to send their students to
Columbia for graduate work, the * primary registration
in the School of Political Science grew far more rapidly
than in the earlier pre-fellowship period. Through this
wise liberality of the Trustees, the Schools of Philosophy
and of Pure Science enjoyed from their establishment the
encouragement which the School of Political Science had
lacked in the first decade of its existence.

In 1891, also, the Trustees initiated a system of
alliances with neighboring theological seminaries which
has not merely made Columbia’s graduate instruction
available to students in these seminaries, but has practically
given to Columbia University the fourth of the traditional
faculties — theology —and in a fashion singularly fore-
shadowed by the supplementary charter of 175656 and the
resolutions of the Regents in 1784. Columbia’s ¢« Faculty
of Divinity ” is now in fact composed, as was suggested by
the Regents, of « such professorships as may be established
by the different religious societies within the state.” In
1891 the General Theological Seminary of the Protestant
Episcopal church and the Union Theological Seminary
of the Presbyterian church were invited to enter into
relations of educational alliance with Columbia. The
Union Theological Seminary accepted the proposal at
once. By an agreement dated June 8, 1891, the educa-
tional facilities of each institution were made available,
under suitable conditions, to students of the other, with-
out payment of any additional tuition fee; certain sub-
jects taught at the Seminary were recognized as minor
subjects for the master’s and doctor’s degrees at Columbia ;
and the President of the Seminary obtained seat and
advisory voice in the University Council. More tardily,
October 22, 1908, the General Theological Seminary
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1880- American Museum of Natural History; and by an agree-

1004

ment made in the following year the Museum placed its
collections at the service of the instructors and advanced
students of Columbia. In 1891 the New York Botanical
Garden was organized and placed under the supervision
of a board which included the President of Columbia and
the Columbia professors of botany, chemistry, and geology,
and it was evident that within a few years the opportu-
nities for research work in this field would be unexcelled
in any part of the country. In 1891, also, the Faculty of
Medicine became an integral part of the teaching force of the
University, and it seemed desirable to associate the research
work conducted by this Faculty with the similar work con-
ducted in other departments. Accordingly, in 1892, the
Trustees established the Faculty of Pure Science, com-
posed at the outset of the professors of biology (later
described as professors of zodlogy), of the professor of
physiology in the Faculty of Medicine, and of the profes-
sors of mathematics, physics, mechanics, astronomy, chem-
istry, geology, mineralogy, and botany in the Faculty of
the School of Mines.

In 1896 arrangements were made with the New York Bo-
tanical Garden, by which the greater part of Columbia’s
botanical collections and of its botanical library (including
the famous herbarium and the valuable botanical books
presented to the College in 1860 by Dr. John Torrey)
were to be deposited in the museum of the Garden at
Bronx Park, while the Garden, on its part, was to supply
all needed facilities for research to the instructors and
students of the University. These arrangements went
into operation in 1899, and since that time the advanced
work of the University in botany has been conducted at
Bronx Park.

With the establishment of the Faculty of Pure Science
the reorganization of the teaching force, begun in 1890,
was practically completed. This force was grouped in
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1880- legiate course for women. This was simply a system of

1004

examinations without instruction. To those who com-
pleted any part of the course certificates were issued ;
and in 1887 it was provided that women who passed all
the required examinations should receive the degree of
bachelor of arts from Columbia, and should be permitted
to proceed in the same manner, ¢.e. by non-resident study
and by examinations, to the attainment of the higher non-
professional degrees.

In 1889 a separate College for women was established,
independent in its finances, but dependent on Columbia
for its instructors. In recognition of President Barnard’s
interest in the higher education of women, the new College
was called by his name. Its course of study was to be
identical with that of Columbia, and to students fulfilling

._equivalent requirements Columbia was to grant degrees.
After the establishment of Barnard College no further

registrations were received at Columbia in the collegiate
course for women ; all female candidates for the degrees
of A.B.,, A.M,, and Ph.D were registered as under-
graduate or graduate students at Barnard.

Barnard College was always necessarily a neighbor of
Columbia. It was first established in Madison Avenue
near 49th Street ; and when the Uriversity moved to its
present site, Barnard moved also.

The system of separate instruction presented no serious
difficulties as regarded the curriculum of the first three
years; but Barnard College found itself unable to secure
for its seniors anything approaching the range of election
offered to seniors in Columbia College, to say nothing of
the graduate courses. Strong pressure was accordingly
brought to bear on the non-professional Faculties of
Columbia to open their courses to women. By arrange-
ments which are described in the following chapter, the
Barnard seniors and graduates were admitted in 1891
to the majority of the courses offered by the Faculty of
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1880- At the time when this agreement was executed, Teachers

1904 College and Columbia occupied widely separated sites ;
but Columbia had already decided to remove to its present
location, and Teachers College arranged to accompany it.
In January, 1898, a new agreement was concluded be-
tween the two institutions ¢« for the purpose of including
Teachers College as a professional school for teachers in
the educational system of the University.” The new
points in this agreement were as follows : the President
of the University became ez officio President of Teachers
College ; a Dean was to be appointed by the Trustees
of Teachers College on the nomination of the President
of the University ; the College was to be represented in
the University Council by its Dean and by an elected
delegate with the right to vote on matters affecting
Teachers College ; certain Columbia professors were to
have seats in the Faculty of Teachers College ; courses
leading to the degree of A.B. were to be subject to the
approval of the Faculty of Columbia College, courses lead-
ing to the degrees of A.M. and Ph.D. to the approval of
the University Council ; and the granting of certificates to
students who at the same time should be candidates for a
degree was likewise made subject to the approval of the
University Council. There was again the stipulation that
Barnard College might become a party to the agreement,
and that in such case female students in Teachers College
might become candidates for degrees by registering in
Barnard College ; and again Barnard College acceded.

By an agreement dated January 19, 1900, which is still
in force, Barnard College was similarly included in the
educational system of the University, the President of the
University becoming its President and a member of its
Board of Trustees ; and its Dean being appointed by the
President of the University “ by and with the advice and
consent of the Trustees of Barnard College.” The Dean
of Barnard received a seat in the University Council and
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1880~ of scientific literature produced by its professors and ad-

1904

vanced students, and the increasing number of journals
and other serial publications edited at the University or
with the cooperation of its officers. Of the thirty-five
serial publications appearing in 1904 which were under
the control of the University or of its officers, twenty-six
had come into existence since 1889. In 1893 there was
organized, with the approval of the Trustees, the Col-
umbia University Press, for the purpose of promoting the
publication of works embodying the results of original
research. It isa private association (incorporated June 8,
1893), related directly to Columbia by the provisions that
its Trustees shall be officers of the University and that
the President of the University shall be its President.
In the same year arrangements were made by which the
Macmillan Company became publishing agents for the
Press.

Until 1896 Columbia had modestly retained its old
name. The University was still Columbia College ; the
college proper was distinguished from the other schools
a8 the *“School of Arts.” As early as 1882 President
Barnard asserted that Columbia ¢ had taken on the func-
tions and assumed the character of a proper university ”;
although, as he added, it still fell far short of what a fully
appointed university ought to be. In the reports of the
several Faculties to the Trustees’ committee on the eleva-
tion of the course, in 1888, the complex of existing schools
was frequently referred to as the University, and the
Faculty of Political Science recommended * that the term
¢ College ’ should be restricted to the disciplinary depart-
ment and that the University, established in fact, should
be called by its right name.” The reorganization of 1890
produced a “ University Council ’; in the following year,
“university fellowships ”” were established; and in the re-
vised statutes adopted by the Trustees all of the Faculties
except that of the School of Arts were described as the
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1880- These schools were left under the direction of the exist-
ing single Faculty, but this Faculty was now described,
again as President Barnard had suggested, as the Faculty
of Applied Science.

By resolutions of June 2, 1902, the Trustees removed
the School of Architecture from the jurisdiction of the
Faculty of Applied Science. At the same time they
removed from the Faculty of Philosophy the department
of music. This department was established in 1896, with
the aid of the Robert Center fund for instruction in
music, the gift of Mrs. Ludlow; and it was organized by

_ Columbia’s first professor of music, Edward Alexander
McDowell. The purpose of the Trustees in removing
architecture and music from their previous separate en-
vironments was “that these departments may serve as
the nucleus for an adequate and creditable university
school of fine arts in the future.” In his report of 1902
President Butler explained that it was no part of the plan
that the University should give practical instruction in
the fine arts. The University should give the historical,
philosophical, and theoretical instruction, leaving to other
teachers and organizations the practical training and ap-
prenticeship which is a necessary part of all art education.

Whenever the School of Fine Arts shall be organized,
it will find some of the facilities it will require already
provided. The Avery Architectural Library is more than
a nucleus for an art library; it is already such a library.
An agreement concluded in 1892 with the Metropolitan
Museum gives Columbia’s art students opportunities
similar to those which are secured to the students of
biology by the arrangement made at the same time with
the Museum of Natural History and shortly afterward
with the New York Botanical Garden. Under the agree-
ment with the Metropolitan Museum Columbia students
are admitted on presentation of cards signed by the
President of the University ; permission is granted to









THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE UNIVERSITY 257

sketch or copy objects of art; and lectures may be de- 1880-
livered in the rooms in which the collections are dis- 1?04
played. .

During the last decade of the century, Columbia made
increasing provision for the extension of its educational
advantages to others than its regular students. In 1892
its system of public lectures was largely extended. For
several years free lectures had been given at the College ;
in 1892 arrangements were made with the authorities of
Cooper Union, by which the Union gave the hall and
defrayed the incidental expenses, and Columbia provided
the lectures. The agreements already noted with the
Museum of Natural History and the Metropolitan
Museum made similar provision for public lectures, and
since 18938 university lectures have been given at these
institutions.

Since 1898 ¢ extension " courses have been given on a
larger scale and in a more systematic way under the
auspices of Teachers College. In 1898-1899 courses for
teachers were given in Brooklyn, in codperation with the
Brooklyn Institute of Arts and Sciences; and also in the
boroughs of Queens and Richmond. Since that time
the work has steadily expanded and has been placed
under the control of a special officer — the * Director of
the Extension Department in Teachers College.” In
1903-1904 the director reported 1590 extension students.

Since 1900 the University has maintained a Summer
Session, open to men and women on equal terms, and
attended largely but not exclusively by teachers. It is
conducted by an administrative board composed of the
President of the University, the Dean of Teachers Col-
lege, and a Director. The range of subjects treated, the
number of courses offered, and the number of students
registered have increased rapidly. In 1908 summer
courses in medicine were established. The attendance
at the Summer Session of 1903 was 1001.
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1880- Both in the extension courses and in the Summer Session

1904 it has been the effort of the University authorities to main-
tain the same standards as at the University in its other
sessions. Under regulations adopted by Teachers Col-
lege, extension and summer courses satisfactorily com-
pleted count toward its professional diplomas. Under
regulations adopted by the University Council, such
courses may count toward the baccalaureate degree; and
attendance in certain courses in the Summer Session
may be accepted as a partial fulfilment of the residence
requirements for the higher degrees.

The opening of Columbia’s fourth half-century will be
marked by further expansion. By treaty with the Col-
lege of Pharmacy the University has secured another pro-
fessional school; and through the generous gift of Mr.
Joseph Pulitzer of New York it will be enabled to develop
still another —a School of Journalism.

The College of Pharmacy, founded in 1831, is older
than any part of the University except Columbia College
and the College of Physicians and Surgeons. It owns
and occupies a building recently erected on West 65th
Street between Amsterdam Avenue and Broadway. Geo-
graphically as well as in other respects it constitutes
a connecting link between the medical work of the Uni-
versity on West 59th Street and the general scientific
work conducted on Morningside Heights. A personal
bond of connection also has long existed ; Dr. Charles
F. Chandler, one of the original Faculty of the School of
Mines and long its Dean, a member also for many years
of the Faculty of the College of Physician and Surgeons,
has been for many years professor of chemistry in the
College of Pharmacy and for several years its President.
The agreement between Columbia and the College of Phar-
macy, which was concluded March 15, and took effect July
1, 1904, is drawn on the same lines as the agreement of
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1880- While in a sense this undertaking is experimental, yet it
1804 j3 the judgment of the University, and that of a large
and influential portion of the newspaper press, that it will
be abundantly successful. If journalism is a calling for
which no previous training is desirable or necessary, then
it must be held to be an exception to all other professions,
trades, and occupations. Natural aptitude will always lay
the surest foungation for usefulness in any career, and
practical experience well analyzed and understood is of
prime importance ; but between the two lie the study of
principles and practices, the acquirement of the subsidiary
information which must be drawn upon, and the practice
under criticism which gives to the beginner the benefit of
the experience of others. All these this University can
furnish for journalism, as it furnishes them for engineer-
ing and for teaching. The University cannot guarantee
to produce good newspaper men any more than it can
guarantee to produce good engineers or good teachers ;
ut it can and will train students to become such if they

have the root of the matter in them.

“In o¥anizing and carrying on the School of Journal-
ism the Trustees, the University Council, and the Faculty
of Journalism will have the advantage from the outset of
the suggestions and criticisms of an Advisory Board to
be composed of ¢the foremost journalists and editors pos-
sessing expert knowledge on the subject,’ the members of
which will be appointed by the Trustees upon the nomi-
nation of Mr. Pulitzer.”

Pending the appointment of the advisory board, a com-
mittee appointed by President Butler framed a report
regarding the organization and academic relations of the
School of Journalism. This report was submitted to and
amended and approved by the University Council. At the
same time the Trustees’ committee on buildings authorized
the preparation of preliminary plans for a building, to be
placed on the Amsterdam Avenue side of the Quadrangle,
south of Fayerweather Hall.

At the opening of its fourth half-century, Columbia, as
an educational unity, will consist of eleven faculties, con-
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1880- and of these nearly one-half were students in the pro-
1904 fossional schools.
The policy of placing all the professional schools npon
8 basis of preliminary college training, advocated as we
have seen by President Low and by the University Coun-
cil, was reaffirmed by President Butler in his first report
(1902). That it has the support of practically the entire
teaching body was shown by an inquest instituted in the
autumn of 1902. Those advocating such a policy num-
bered one hundred and two, those dissenting nine. The
vote of each professional Faculty, and the length of the
preliminary college course advocated for each school, are
indicated in the following table:

In Favor oF A PRELIMINARY COLLEGE

— Cougsz or ;::m
Four Years | Three Years | Two Years

Law. . . . . 4 2

Medicine . . . 2 6 6

Applied Science 3 20

Teachers College 5 10

The history of the development of the University, as
outlined in the preceding pages, is substantially a history
of the formation or acquisition of faculties and schools.
The development of new departments of instruction and
research falls properly within the special histories of the
several schools. Since 1896, however, there has devel-
oped, without legislative impulse or warrant, a third form
of organization, which in many instances runs across the
faculty lines, viz. : that of the so-called *“divisions.” The
division is an association of departments naturally related
and having many common interests. The ends subserved
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1880- and Teachers Colleges should receive for the same pur-

1904

pose two millions. This estimate does not include the
erection of mew buildings nor the endowment of new
departments of instruction and research. New buildings,
however, are already needed, and if Columbia is to main-
tain its leading position among the great American uni-
versities, it will need further endowments for the next
ten years at the rate of at least half a million a year.
During the past quarter of a century, New York has
obtained, with little cost to its citizens, a national uni-
versity of the first rank. The question of the next
quarter of a century, or rather of the next few years,
will be: Will New York maintain Columbia in this
ition ?
post MuUNBROE SMITH.















CHAPTER II
THE GRADUATE SCHOOLS

POLITICAL SCIENCE, PHILOSOPHY, AND PURE SCIENCE

« THE non-professional graduate schools” is the name
usually given to those parts of Columbia University in
which courses are offered leading to the degrees of A.M.
and Ph.D., and in which students who have received an
adequate general education are trained in methods of
research in history and the social sciences, in the other
“ humanities,”” and in mathematics and the natural sciences.
The name is not happily chosen; at least it does not
accurately define the place or purpose of these schools in
the university system. They are not the only schools
frequented by graduates; nor are they the only schools
which require for admission a preliminary course of
study in a college or scientific school. Their students
are not working without reference to preparation for
self-support, and their courses are designed to prepare
men and women for a variety of professions. There is,
however, a real difference between these schools and the
older professional schools. The callings for which they
are preparing their students are peculiarly those of public
service. The majority of their graduates become college
professors or instructors in secondary schools ; a minority
become civil servants of the nation or of the several com-
monwealths, or journalists, or directors of organized chari-
ties, or curators of scientific institutions, or members of
some other of the new professions, numerous already and
rapidly increasing, which serve a complex and progressive
society — a society that is constantly developing new needs
and meeting them in new ways.
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The statute of June 7, 1880, described the new school
as one “designed to prepare young men for the duties
of public life.” The first prospectus of the school stated
that its prime aim was “the development of all the
branches of the political sciences”; its secondary aim,
“the preparation of young men for all the political
branches of the public service.” If this latter purpose
could have been largely realized, a new professional
school would have been established. As late as 1882,
President Barnard, in his annual report, included the
School of Political Science among the professional schools
of Columbia.! In its early years it in fact resembled a pro-
fessional schooll;[l\ that its students were grouped in three
classes and pursued a prescribed course of study for three
years. The prescribed course of study, however, was
necessitated by the small number of instructors. With
the gradual enlargement of the Faculty after 1888, the
elective principle appeared; parallel courses, the one
mainly legal, the other mainly economic, were developed ;
the prescribed order of studies and the division into
classes disappeared; and early in the second decade of
the school’s existence, when its Faculty had been greatly
strengthened on its historical side, the system that now
obtains was adopted, by which the student selects, from
a considerable number of subjects, a2 “major” and two
“minors,” and, with such restrictions only as result from
the character of the courses, pursues his studies in what-
ever order he finds most convenient.

Admission to the first-year class was based on the com-
pletion of the junior year in College, or an equivalent
education. The studies of the first year were political phi-
losophy, the literature of the political sciences, constitu-

1In 1886, however, Dr. Barnard dated the beginning of ‘¢ the third era
in the history of our College, the period of university instruction,’ from
the establishment in 1880 of graduate instruction and of the School of
Political Science, ‘¢ which is not a professional school.”
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one of its youngest members, Professor Butler, as its 1890-
Dean, and another, Professor Peck, as its delegate to the 1904
Council. In the following five years this Faculty lost
half of its original membership. Professors Drisler
and Quackenbos were emerited; Professor Sprague
Smith resigned ; and Professors Merriam and Boyesen
were removed by death in the fulness of their powers.
In 1895, however, all the other officers associated with the
school at the time of its organization, James McKeen
Cattell (psychology), Bernard F. O’Connor (Romance
languages), Edward D. Perry (Greek), A. V. W. Jackson
(Indo-Iranian and English), and James H. Hyslop (logic
and ethics), had been promoted to professorial rank, and all
these except Professor O’Connor (resigned 1894) were still
members of the Faculty. New members had also been ap-
pointed as follows : Adolphe Cohn (Romance languages)
and George E. Woodberry (literature) in 1891 ; Brander
Matthews (literature) in 1892; Henry A. Todd (Romance
philology) and George R. Carpenter (rhetoric) in 1898 ;
James R. Wheeler (Greek) and James C. Egbert (Latin)
in 1895.

In 1890 this Faculty was almost exclusively a faculty
of philology and letters, nine of its ten members belonging
to this group. Its present division of education, with
eight professors, and its division of philosophy, psychol-
ogy, and anthropology, which at present (1904) includes
two departments and eight professors, were represented
in 1890 by Professor Butler. In 1895 there were two
additional professors in the department of philosophy and
psychology, but nine other professors had been appointed
in the various departments of languages and literatures.

From the beginning the professional side of the work of
thisFaculty, the training of teachers, wasstrongly developed.
This result was largely furthered by the alliance with Teach-
ers College, contracted in 1898 and consolidated in 1898.
The relations between the School of Philosophy and
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1890- Teachers College are in many respects analogous to those

1004 which have been established between the School of Political
Science and the Law School ; although, owing partly to
historical reasons, the professional connections of the
younger Faculty were established more easily and have be-
come more intimate than those of the School of Political
Science. In each case the non-professional Faculty has
cooperated with the professional in the work of instruction,
and has simultaneously leavened it with the research
spirit. Doctorates in philosophy, psychology, and educa-
tion preponderated during the first decade of the School
of Philosophy, as did doctorates in public law during the
first decade of the School of Political Science.

Until the removal of both institutions to Morningside
Heights, the alliance with Teachers College had little
influence on the growth of the student body in the School
of Philosophy. This school, however, enjoyed from its
establishment the advantage of the university fellowship
system; it drew students from the theological seminaries;
and with its large teaching force and wide range of subjects
it attracted from the outset a considerable body of students.
In the year preceding the organization of the Faculty of
Philosophy, 35 graduate students were registered under
the Faculty of Arts (College). In its first year the
School of Philosophy had a total enrolment of 92 students,
82 of whom were seniors in Columbia College, five! were
graduate students primarily registered under other facul-
ties, 47 were graduate students, and eight were special
students primarily registered under the Faculty of Phi-
losophy. Of the 47 graduate students primarily regis-
tered in this school, 23 held the master’s degree and three
the doctor’s degree. Four years later (1894-1895) the
total enrolment was 190: 51 seniors, 27! graduates

1 Approximate figures. The early reports from the Faculty of Phi-
losophy show the number of graduates in the school, but the primary and
secondary registrations were not separated.
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1890- liam Hallock. All these were members of the School of

1904 Mines Faculty, except Professor Curtis (physiology), who
was a member of the Faculty of Medicine, and Professors
Osborn and Wilson (biology), who had been appointed
officers of the University during the previous year.

The Faculty of Pure Science met for organization Sep-
tember 30, 1892. It elected Professor Osborn as its Dean,
and Professor Rees as its delegate to the University
Council. In this Faculty the line of cleavage between
the older and the younger group was very marked. Four
of the thirteen had been in the service of Columbia for
nearly thirty years, and two for more than ten years,
while the appointments of the remaining seven to pro-
fessorial rank at Columbia dated from the preceding two
years, 1890-1892. All but three of the thirteen are still
(1904) members of the Faculty. Professor Britton re-
signed in 1896 to become director of the New York
Botanical Garden, and was made professor emeritus —a
change which in no wise interrupted his connection with
the research work conducted by the department of botany.
Professor Egleston was emerited in 1897 and died in 1900.
Professor Rood died in 1902.

The purpose for which this Faculty was established,
as President Low stated in his report of 1893, was to en-
courage scientific research. For this purpose it was
deemed advisable to unify the research interests of the
different schools in the field of natural science. Naturally,
therefore, as new research interests in this field were
developed in the professional schools, the departments
concerned obtained representation in the Faculty of Pure
Science ; and new appointments in the field, whether in
existing or in new departments, were in many cases made
simultaneously in the Faculty of Pure Science and in
the Faculties of Medicine or of Applied Science. Under
these circumstances the Faculty of Pure Science grew
rapidly in numbers. Within four years seats in Pure
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1890- established, made the qualification for admission to these

1004

schools the completion of the third year of a college
course. The University Council, invested with full
power to determine the conditions on which the higher
degrees should be awarded, accepted these precedents and
fixed the minimum period of graduate study for the doc-
tor's degree at two years. As a matter of experience,
however, it has been found that a longer period of study
is usually necessary. The cases in which the degree of
Ph.D. has been obtained in the minimum period have
been very rare; the average period has been considerably
in excess of three years. Under these circumstances
there has been a demand that the minimum period of
study for the doctorate after the attainment of the first
degree should be raised to three years; but the University
Council has thus far declined to make this change.

The question is closely associated with the problem of
shortening the aggregate term of college and university
study. All the legislation above noted presupposes that
the fourth year of the College is really a university year,
and that study for the doctor’s degree may begin in that
year ; and the Council has not been prepared to say that
a student of exceptional ability and industry, who has
pursued a coherent course of advanced study from the
beginning of the senior year and has submitted a satis-
factory dissertation shall not be permitted to obtain the
doctorate within the present minimum term.

The requirement that a candidate for the doctorate
should be able to read Latin, as well as French and Ger-
man, has been abolished as regards the Faculty of Pure
Science, and it is waived as regards candidates in psy-
chology, anthropology, and education when the professor
in charge of their major subject certifies that knowledge
of Latin is not necessary for the prosecution of their
researches.

The Faculties of Philosophy and of Pure Science adhere
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1806- Faculties and a rapid increase in the number of their
1004 graduate students.

Reénforced in 1895 by the appointments on Barnard
foundations already noted, the Faculty of Political
Science was further strengthened, in 1896, by the appoint-
ment of Professor William Milligan Sloane of Princeton
University, an alumnus of the old Columbia, to a newly
established chair of history, which, in recognition of the
President’s services to the University, was described as
the Seth Low professorship. In 1901 the Faculty lost,
by the second death in its ranks, another of its original
members, Professor Mayo-Smith. At the time of his
death, the department which he had built up was recog-
nized as the strongest economic department in the coun-
try, and the number of graduate students in economics
was many times greater at Columbia than at any other
American university. In his stead, Professor Henry R.
Seager was called from the University of Penusylvania
and Professor Henry L. Moore from Smith College.

It is interesting to note that this Faculty, in its brief
history of twenty-four years, has grown, like the College
on which it was grafted, first from within, by reproduc-
tion, and then from without, by annexation. All the
additions to the original teaching force, until 1891, were
drawn from the graduates of the school; all reénforce-
ments since that date have been drawn from outside,
from the government service or from other colleges and
universities. The earlier policy made the Faculty sin-
gularly homogeneous; the later policy has kept it from
becoming clannish.

The opportunities for advanced study and research in
history have been widened during the last few years by
arrangements with members of the Faculty of Philoso-
phy. Professors Gottheil, Jackson, Prince, and Hirth were
invited and cordially agreed to deliver courses on the
history of the Arabs, of India and Persia, of western
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1806- Thorndike (psychology). During the same period seven

1004 professors have been appointed to chairs in this Faculty
and in an undergraduate Faculty: Calvin Thomas
(German), Carlo L. Speranza (Italian), Nelson G.
McCrea (Latin), Clarence H. Young (Greek), Living-
ston Farrand (anthropology), Frederick J. E. Woodbridge
(philosophy), and Charles Knapp (classical philology);
and six professors have been added to the Faculty of
Philosophy exclusively: Franz Boas (anthropology),
John D. Prince (Semitic languages), Friedrich Hirth
(Chinese), Felix Adler (ethics), Charles A. Strong
(psychology), and Marshall H. Saville (American archee-
ology). Edward A. MacDowell (music) was & member of
the Faculty from his appointment in 1896 until his depart-
ment was set off from the School of Philosophy in 1902.
Between 1896 and 1904 the Faculty lost two other mem-
bers: one, James H. Hyslop, by resignation; the other,
Thomas Randolph Price, by death.

In 1902, when Dean Butler became President of the
University, Professor Perry was elected as Dean of
the Faculty of Philosophy.

From 1896 to 1904 inclusive, the total registration in
the School of Philosophy rose from 227 (including Col-
lege seniors) to 495 (exclusive of undergraduates); and
the primary registration from 130 to 431. In the total
and primary registration for 1904 were included 100 stu-
dents primarily registered in Teachers College who were
candidates for the higher degrees under the Faculty of
Philosophy, and 21 auditors.

The Faculty and School of Pure Science also owe a por-
tion of their recent growth to the neighboring federated
colleges. The appointment of one professor on a Barnard
foundation has already been noted. More recently seats
in the Faculty of Pure Science have been assigned to four
Teachers College professors: John F. Woodhull (phys-
ical science), Richard E. Dodge (geography), Francis E.
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1890- were admitted as candidates for the higher degrees. In
904 the year preceding this legislation, 1895-1896, the number
of graduates primarily registered in pure science was 28,
and the total enrolment was 85. In the following years
there was a gradual increase in the number of graduates
primarily registered in this school, and also in the number
of graduates primarily registered in Medicine and Applied
Science who were enrolled under the Faculty of Pure
Science as candidates for the higher degrees. The num-
ber of graduates primarily registered rose from 28 in
1895-1896 to 65 in 1899-1900 and 102 in 1903-1904.
The total number of graduates registered rose from 36 in
1895-1896 to 1566 in 1903-1904.

The fact that the graduate schools have begun to re-
ceive endowments from gifts and bequests is at once an
indication of the success which they have achieved and a
warrant of their further development. In 1898 the Cham-
ber of Commerce of the State of New York raised by pub-
lic subscription the sum of 8100,000, to perpetuate the
memory of George E. Waring. The income of this fund,
primarily destined to the use of Colonel Waring’s widow
and daughter, is ultimately to be devoted to * instruction
in municipal affairs.” In 1901 an *“anonymous friend ”
gave $213,000 to found a department of Chinese lan-
guages, literatures, religion, and law, and especially for
the establishment of a professorship to be known as the
Dean Lung professorship of Chinese. In 1903 Joseph F.
Loubat gave $100,000 to establish the Loubat professor-
ship in American arch@ology. In the same year a legacy
of $100,000 was received from the late Dorman B. Eaton
to endow and maintain a professorship of municipal sci-
ence and administration.

The following fellowships have been established by gift
or bequest : the George William Curtis fellowship in
political science; the Schiff fellowship in political science;
the Tyndall fellowship for the encouragement of research

!
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in physics; the Barnard fellowship for encouraging sci- 1880-
entific research; the Drisler fellowship in classical phi- 1904

lology; the Proudfit fellowship in letters; and the Carl
Schurz fellowship for the study of the German language

and literature.

The growth of the three Faculties, not only in the num-
ber of professors but in the range of subjects represented,
is shown in the following tables : —

FACULTY OF POLITICAL SCIENCE

1880-1881 1908-1904
Gmours s s §
Professorial Titles '§~ Professorial Titles s._
2 Lh
1. Hisrory axp Po- | ( Philosophy. 1) | History and Politi- | 4
LITICAL PHI- 1| |cal Philosophy (1),
LOBOPHY. History, Political History (8).
Science, and
2. PusLic Law axp International Political Science 4
COMPARATIVE Law. and Constitutional
JURISPRUDENCE,| -1 Law (1), Roman
Law and Compara-|
tive Jurisprudence
(1), Administra-
tive Law and Mu-
nicipal Science (1),
International Law
and Diplomacy (1).
8. Ecoxouics AND | Political Economy | 1 | Political Economy | &
SociaL Sciexce.| and Social Science. and Finance (1),
Sociology (1), Po-
litical Economy (8).
ToraL NUMBER OF — —_—
PROFESSORS . . 3 18

1 Chairs of Roman Law and of Administrative Law were established
in 1880, but were occupied by *¢lecturers.”



800

A HISTORY OF COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

FACULTY OF PHILOSOPHY

1890-1891 1903-1904
Drvisions g g ; §
Professorial Titles £ 8 Professorial Titles E
2£ s&
z =

1. CrassicaL Pui- | Greek (2), 8 | Classical Philology | ©

LOLOGY. Latin (1). (2), Greek and
Latin (1), Greek
(8), Latin (8).

2. OrientTAL Lax- | Semitic. 1 | Semitic (2), Indo- | 4

GUAGES. — Iranian (1), Chi-
nese (1).

8. MopERN LaAx- Germanic Lan- 6 | Germanic Lan- 10
GUAGES AND guages (2), Ro- guages (2), Ro-
LiTERATURES. | mance Languages mance Languages

(1), English (2). (38), English Lan-
guage and Litera-
ture (3), Dramatic
Literature (1),
Comparative Lit-
erature (1).

4. PaiLosorrY, Psy-| Philosophy, Psy- 1 | Philosophy (1), 8
cHoLOGY AND |chology, and Psychology (3),
AxtEROPOLOGY.| Ethics. Social Ethics (1),

Anthropology (2),
American Archa-
ology (1).

6. EpuCATION. Education (3), The-| 6
ory and Practice of
Teaching (1),
School Administra-|
tion (1), [exclusive
of 3 included in
Divisions 1 and 3.]

ToTAL NUMBER OF — JR—
PROFESSORS . . 10 36

1 Appointments of 1904 are not included.
2 Instruction in Indo-Iranian was given, 1890-1891, but no chair was
established until the end of the academic year.
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FACULTY OF PURE SCIENCE

801

1892-1698 1908-1904 1
Drvisions ‘f § E £
Professorial Titles | £§ Professarial Titles é§
& 2&
. BioroGr. Biology (2), Physi-| 4 |Biology (1), Zoblogy (5),| 12
ology (1), Bot- Anatomy (1), Physiol-
any (1). ogy (5), Pathology (1),
Bacteriology (1), Bot-
any (1).
. CHEMISTRY. | Chemistry. 1 |Chemistry (1), Analyti-| 6
cal Chemistry (1), Or-
ganic Chemistry (1),
Physical Chemistry (1),
Physiological Chemis-
try (1).

. GEOLOGY, Geology (1), 8 | Geology (1), Mineral- 4
GeocraraY | Mineralogy (2). ogy (1), Pal@ontology
AND MINER- (1), Geography (1).

ALOGY.

. MaTHEMATICS| Mathematics (1), 6 | Mathematics (6), Phys- | 138
AND PuysicaL| Physics (2), As- ics (3), Astronomy (2),
Scie~ce. tronomy (1), Me- Mechanics (1), Electro-

chanics (1). mechanics (1).
TOTAL XUMBER
oF Prores- _— —
SORS . .... 18 34

1 Appointments of 1904 are not included.
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1890- Doctorates have been awarded on the recommendation

1904 ¢ the several Faculties, as follows : —
Yzans PoriTicaL Screxce Pairosorny Pozz Somxxos
1880-1892 . . . . 81
1800-1802 . . . . b
1892-1803 . . . . 7 2 3
1803-1894 . . . . 3 ] 3
1804-1896 . . . . 4 4 6
18951896 . . . . 2 b 38
1896-1897 . 10 2 4
1897-1898 . b 9 8
1808-1899 . . . . 6 14 14
1899-1900 . . . . 8 9 9
1900-1901 . . . . 8 9 8
1901-1902 . . . . 7 12 11
1002-1903 . . . . 10 17 10
1008-1904 . . . 10 9 8
Totals. . . 108 102 87

The enrolment of students in the three schools, since
the system of “primary registration ” was introduced, has
been as follows : —

1605 1896 ' 1808 1899 1900 1901 1902 1908

SomooL to to ‘ to  to | to to to

1896 | 1697 (1900 1901 1902 1908 1904

Political Science . 64 67 ‘ 153 157 154
Philosophy . . . 130 151 1204 353 431
Pure Science . . 35 55 | | 61 84 107
Total . . . . 229 273 307 508 594 692

These figures are exclusive of all professional students
in Law, Medicine, or Applied Science who attended
courses in these schools. They do not include even such
as were candidates for the higher degrees. In 1903-1904
there were 148 graduate students thus excluded. On the
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other hand, these statistics include students in other 1904
professional schools who were simultaneously pursuing
courses in the non-professional Faculties as candidates
for the higher degrees, viz.: students in Teachers College
and in the theological seminaries of New York City and
its environs. There is, of course, no educational basis for
any such distinction. It rests on the fact that Teachers
College and the theological seminaries are financially
independent institutions.

The following table, compiled at the writer’s request by
the Registrar of the University, attempts to give a more
scientific analysis of the body of students who attended
courses under these three Faculties in 1903-1904. It
separates graduate students who were candidates for the
higher degrees from those students, graduate or non-
graduate, who were not candidates for such degrees. It
separates the candidates who were not studying in any
professional school from those who were simultaneously
pursuing professional and non-professional courses, includ-
ing in this latter category the students primarily registered
in Teachers College or in a theological seminary as well as
the other professional students. It shows, finally, in the
third column, the extent to which students having their
major subject in one non-professional Faculty elect minor
subjects in another.

CANDIDATES FOR DEGREES OF A.M. OR PH.D., 1903-1904

PriMary PrixariLy Rxers- 8xooxpaRY

Nox-PROFissiONAL || TERED IN A Pro- || NoN-PROFESSIONAL
Rxa1sTRATION Y AL 8 R RATION

8cHooL Men | Women | Men Women Men Women
Political Science 88 35 126 0 63 15
Philosophy . .| 151 105 121 26 40 23
Pure Science. . 76 26 87 0 9 8
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ntly noted by the Dean of the Faculty of Philosophy, 1004
. Columbia has not developed so large an undergrad-

) college as to constrain its teachers to adapt their
anced courses to the needs and capacity of undergrad-

) students. In the last instance, however, the success

he graduate schools has been due to the ability and
lity of their teachers and the zeal of their students ;
neither by situation nor by mouney nor by machinery
university made, but by men.

MUNEOE SMITH.






BOOK THREE
THE PROFESSIONAL SCHOOLS

I.—THE SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

THE beginnings of professional education in America
are found, not within institutions of learning, but in the
familiar personal association of the student with the pro-
fessional man. Whether in theology, law, or medicine,
the system was essentially the same. The future clergy-
man learned his theology and the art of preaching in the
clergyman’s library and before his pulpit ; the law student
was trained in the lawyer’s office, and at the courts under
the lawyer’s eye ; while the prospective physician read
text-books, recorded cases, and compounded drugs in the
office of the physician, and accompanied the latter on his
daily round of visits. This relation of the younger and
the older man was a survival in the new world of the
system of apprenticeships which had prevailed so long in
Great Britain in both law and medicine, and which even
now has not entirely disappeared. Sometimes it fell well-
nigh to the level of a rigorous slavery ; more often it
formed the foundation of a mutually helpful and con-
tinuing friendship. There was much in the method to
be commended, and though in present: days, when the
demands of professional training are tremendous, it has
largely died away, we still find the young graduate seek-
ing the intimate personal counsel of the leader in his
specialty.

807



808 A HISTORY OF COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

1750 In medicine the relation of student to preceptor was
early recognized by law and was regarded as essential to
the existing methods of instruction; but the individual
training was supplemented by private lectures and recita-
tions on specified branches, given by the preceptor to small
classes. Anatomy was a favorite topic of such special
courses, and was often accompanied by demonstrative dis-
sections. Thus, as early as 1647, the Apostle John Eliot
wrote: “ We never had but one Anatomy in the Countrey
which Mr. Giles Firman . . . did make and read upon very
well.” In 1750 Dr. John Bard and Dr. Peter Middleton
dissected the body of an executed criminal in New York
City «for the instruction of the young men then engaged
in the study of medicine.” But such instances were
isolated. Mr. Eliot wrote with regret that “our young
students in Physick . . . have onely theoreticall knowl-
edge and are forced to fall to practice before ever they saw
an Anatomy made, or duely trained up in making experi-
ments.” And he early recognized that «it were a singu-
lar good work, if the Lord would stirre up the hearts of
some or other of His people in England to give some main-
tenance toward some Schoole or Collegiate exercise this
way, wherein there should be Anatomies and other in-
structions that way.” Most American youths who had
higher ambition in medicine than that which could be
satisfied through training obtained in their preceptor’s
company and through chance autopsies, were forced to go
to the universities of Europe ; and thus Edinburgh, Aber-
deen, Glasgow, London, Leyden, Paris, and Padua gave
the instruction that was lacking at home.

Soon after its foundation the governors of King’s Col-
lege realized the need of which Mr. Eliot had written
more than a century before, and in 1763 a course of
lectures on anatomy was given at the College by Dr.
Samuel Clossy, a graduate of Trinity College, Dublin, an
enthusiastic anatomist and an excellent physician and
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‘1896 the College. He possessed valuable professional and
social connections in this country and abroad, became the
leading general practitioner of the city, and added much
of value to medical literature. During this period the
College removed from Magazine (now Pearl) Street,
where it had been situated since its brief occupancy of
the house in Robinson Street, to new quarters in Barclay
Street, which with subsequent additions served as its
home for twenty-four years. Here the number of its
students rapidly increased and soon surpassed two hun-
dred, drawn from all parts of the United States. It now
acquired possession of the botanical garden of Dr. Hosack,
situated three miles to the north and comprising the tract
of land now bounded by 47th and 51st streets and Fifth
and Sixth avenues. This was intended to serve as a
valuable aid in the study of materia medica, but it proved
a disappointing venture, and relief was felt when the
garden was transferred to Columbia College.

The successor of Dr. Bard in the presidency was
Wright Post, who served from 1822 to 1826. Through
no fault of his, these were years of dissension, resulting
largely from the criticism of professional rivals outside
the college circle; and though the work of the College
went steadily on, the controversies were only ended in
1826 by the summary resignation of the entire faculty.
Some of these, notably Dr. Mott, returned to the service
of the institution in later years.

The fourth president was John Watts, a graduate of
Edinburgh, and a leading practitioner. Prominent among
those newly called to become instructors were John
Torrey, in chemistry and botany ; John B. Beck, in bot-
any and materia medica, and later in medical jurispru-
dence; Alexander H. Stevens, in the principles and
practice of surgery; Edward Delafield, in obstetrics and
diseases of women and children; and Joseph M. Smith, in
the theory and practice of physic, and clinical medicine,
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1788 early days it was often necessary to secure bodies for dis-
section surreptitiously and illegally, it has persevered
until its scientific status has been recognized by law. In
the School of Medicine of Columbia a professorship of
anatomy has existed from the beginning. In the anatom-
ical instruction, in addition to the lectures and demon-
strations, dissection has constituted the chief method.
In the time of Dr. Clossy and his successors, the oppor-
tunities for dissection were meagre, and the work was car-
ried on under difficulties and even dangers. The famous
Doctors’ Riot of 1788, which resulted in the killing of
several persons, was incited by the discovery of a portion
of a human body in a window of the New York Hospital,
and was the demonstration of a fanatical mob against the
hospital, Columbia College, the houses of several phy-
sicians, and the jail in which the physicians had been
placed for safe-keeping. In the following year the legis-
lature of New York passed the first American law designed
to regulate the practice of anatomy. This allowed the
bodies of executed murderers, incendiaries, and burglars,
to be given by the court to surgeons for dissection “in
order that science may not . . . be injured by preventing
the dissection of proper subjects.” This gave some relief,
but anatomical material, legally obtained, was not abun-
dant. The entry in the College accounts of 1807 of the
sum of 8136.95, “ To Cash, paid Dr. Smith, for anatomi-
cal Purposes,” if given in detail, would doubtless reveal
tales of midnight adventures. An enactment in 1847
allowed the College to use the unclaimed bodies of con-
victs dying in the State prison at Sing Sing; but it was
not until the passage of the more liberal Public Health
Law of 1854 that the supply of bodies became ample, and
rendered unnecessary the forcible methods which had
hitherto obtained. Practical anatomy was made compul-
sory for all students in 1878. Since, in 1792, Dr. Wright
Post brought to Columbia his anatomical cabinet, acquired
























334 A HISTORY OF COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

1904 range of disease and afford unusual privileges for study.
The third and fourth vears of the curriculum are now
chiefly devoted to clinical work either at the College or in
the hospitals.

In the history of the School of Medicine the fact is
prominent that in educational matters the institution has
been a conservative leader. It has been ready wo adopt
new ideas and methods when once they have been proved
efficient. but it bhas avoided the new that is of uncertain
value. Its influence upon other schools has been potent,
but it has been content to let others try disastrous educa-
tional experiments. Its heritage from the old world has
been great. but it has not been shackled by medical tradi-
tion, and it has lived to instruct the old-world teachers.
It has avoided sensationalism. and upheld sound medical
doctrine. Conspicuous in the annals of education and
medical progress. to the world at large it has proved a
mighty force. The ancient oath of Hippocrates, to which
all who go from its walls subscribe. adjures each “by
whatever he holds most sacred.” to *be loyal to the pro-
fession of medicine.” and to practice his art » in upright-
ness and Lonor.” and this oath thev have kept. In times
of pestilence their courage has not failed. In military and
naval service thev have upheld their country’s honor and
the good name of their school. They have seen the old
medicine pass away. and their enlightened efforts have
helped to bring in the new. The honorable past of the
College is already achieved. and under the inspiration of
the University a still more honorable future is assured.

FREDERIC S. LEE.









II. — THE SCHOOL OF LAW

IN his famous speech for Conciliation with the Colonies,
Burke named as one of the six capital sources of the fierce
spirit of liberty, which characterized the colonists, the
general diffusion of legal knowledge. “In no country
perhaps in the world,” he declared, ¢ is the law so general
a study.” In support of this statement he referred to the
great number of lawyers among the deputies sent to the
Continental Congress ; to the fact that the colonists were
printing law-books for their own use and that as many of
Blackstone’s Commentaries had been sold in America as in
England, and cited General Gage’s assertion * that all the
people in his government are lawyers, or smatterers in
law.” It was this widespread study of the law, in Burke’s
opinion, which made the colonists so ‘acute, inquisitive,
dexterous, prompt in attack, ready in defence, full of
resources,’”’ which led them to “augur misgovernment at
a distance, and snuff the approach of tyranny in every
tainted breeze.”

It is not strange, therefore, that King’s College, founded
a8 it was when this taste for legal study was becoming
prevalent, should have been the first institution of learning
in America to establish a professorship of law. This was
done in 1778, and from that date until the College was
closed by the Revolutionary War, John Vardill, A.M.,
occupied the chair.!

1 The doubts which have been expressed about Mr. Vardill’'s having
entered upon the duties of this office are dispelled by a letter written by
him from King’s College, in September, 1773, to George Washington
concerning the latter’s stepson, John Parke Custis. Undoubtedly, Mr.
Vaxdill left New York for England before the College was closed in 1776.
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178¢ No sooner had King’s College been reorganized and re-
christened as Columbia, than her Trustees voted to establish
a law school, with three professorships, viz. : « A professor-
ship in the Law of Nature and Nations, a professorship
in the Roman Civil Law, a professorship in the Municipal
Law.” This action was taken on December 14, 1784,
and bears witness to the broad views and high ideals of
the Columbia Trustees of that day. But it is not sur-
prising that such views and ideas were entertained by a
board whose leaders were John Jay and Alexander Hamil-
ton. Unfortunately, however, Columbia’s finances were
then at a low ebb, and the ambitious project of a law school
with three professors was not carried out, although the
idea of providing for legal instruction was still cherished.

The financial condition of the College was greatly im-
proved in 1792 by a grant from the state of various sums
in partial reparation of losses sustained during the war,
and of the further sum of £750 annually for five years, “to
be applied to the payment of the salaries of additional pro-
fessors.” It was now possible for the Trustees to do some-
thing for legal instruction. Accordingly, a professorship
of law was established in 1793, and James Kent, A.M., was
unanimously elected to fill the chair, at an annual salary of
£200. It was not an extraordinary stipend, to be sure, but
it should be remembered that the incumbent was a young
and struggling lawyer, and that it was supposed the per-
quisites of the position would equal the salary. Moreover,
the duties of the professorship were not engrossing, and the
appointment, he wrote his brother, *“will even aid my
professional practice at the bar,” and prove “not only
honorable but profitable.”

He entered upon the preparation of his lectures with
much enthusiasm, reading in the original, by way of spe-
cial equipment, “Bynkershoeck, Quintilian, and Cicero’s
rhetorical works, besides English reports and digests.”
That the course was not intended primarily for professional
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1796 instance in the annals of this seat of learning that the
science of Municipal Laws has thus been admitted into
friendship with her sister arts and been invited to lend
her aid to complete a course of public education. . . .
If he to whom is intrusted in this seat of learning, the
cultivation of our laws, can bhave any effect in elevating
the attention of some of our youth from the narrow and
selfish objects of the profession, to the nobler study of the
general principles of our governments, and the policy of
our laws ; — If he can, in any degree, illustrate their rea-
son, their wisdom, and their propitious influence on the
freedom, order, and happiness of society, and thereby pro-
duce a more general interest in their support, he will deem
it a happy consolation for his labors.”

The course consisted of twenty-six lectures, extending,
as he wrote his brother on March 1, 1795, “not only
through the Constitution and jurisprudence of the Union,
the Constitution of this and the other states, but our
doctrine of real property. My first plan was to examine
the law of personal property, including the commercial
branches, and the system of our criminal code. But I
found myself absolutely unable to complete the whole,
and was obliged to leave this first course imperfect. It
will be an easy thing to make these additions and review
and improve the whole by next November. I am satisfied
that my lectures have been well received and that my
expectations are answered.” Upon the fly-leaf of his own
copy of the opening lecture, he noted that he “ was honored
by the attendance throughout the course of seven students
and thirty-six gentlemen, chiefly lawyers and law students
who did not belong to the college.” In the same memo-
randum he notes that ¢ during my second course, com-
mencing November, 1795, I read thirty-one lectures, in my
office, and had only two students besides my clerk.” The
following year no students presented themselves for the
course, and on May 2, 1797, he tendered his resignation.
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1834 perience and distinguished reputation. Associate Justice
Wilson of the United States«Supreme Court became pro-
fessor of law in the College of Philadelphia in 1790, but
was unable to carry on his work successfully after the first
year. At Harvard Justice Parker, of the State Supreme
Court, met with no greater encouragement, when he en-
tered upon the duties of Law Lecturer.

The second attempt at legal instruction in Columbia was
productive of remarkable results, although they were of a
kind not contemplated either by the Trustees or by Chan-
cellor Kent.

However reluctant he may have been to take up again
the work which he had laid aside in a mood of disappoint-
ment twenty-six years before, he soon became thoroughly
interested in it. Early in January, 1824, he wrote to his
brother, “I have for two or three weeks engaged with
great zeal in preparing law lectures.” A fortnight later
he writes : ¢ I have got eight to ten lectures written out and
mean to begin the first of February, and shall deliver but
two formal lectures a week, with one more private for the
matriculated students only. By this means I can keep up
two lectures a week until June, and that shall be the
extent of my first imperfect and broken course.” In
November of the same year, he entered upon a longer and
fuller course, although in a letter of the 9th of that month
he intimates that he is still engaged in preparing new lec-
tures, which give him a good deal of trouble and anxiety
and compel him to study and write all the time. He con-
tinued to discharge the duties of law professor until the
spring of 1826, when, as he wrote in 1828, «“having got
heartily tired of lecturing, I abandoned it.” Perhaps the
success which attended the publication of the first volume
of his Commentaries, and the labor required for the prep-
aration of the later volumes, account for his withdrawal
from academic work. Certainly, there is nothing to indi-
cate a lack of appreciation either by students or by the
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1857 In 1848 William Betts, a graduate of Columbia in the
class of 1820, a trustee of the College and a distinguished
member of the New York bar, was chosen to the profes-
sorship made vacant by Chancellor Kent's death. He
delivered a few lectures, but they were given as a labor of
love to his alma mater, and were spasmodic and intermit-
tent, as such labors of love generally are.

After his resignation in 1854, the professorship was
vacant for some years. During this period the financial
resources of the College had been largely increased, and
the Trustees felt the time had come when they could safely
attempt to provide for the study of law as a part of a
university course. Their original plan, as set forth in
a College statute of 1857, included a School of Jurispru-
dence, in which the following studies were to be pursued :
History; Political Economy ; Political Philosophy ; the
Principles of Natural and International Law ; Civil and
Common Law ; the writings of the Greeks and Romans,
and of the modern civilians and jurists, appropriate to the
last three subjects. It will be observed that this depart-
ment was not intended as a professional school. In con-
nection with the School of Letters and the School of
Science, it was to furnish a university or postgraduate
course of study leading to the degree of Master of Arts.
As explained by Mr. Betts, chairman of the Committee
which had matured the plan, it permitted the College stu-
dents, at the end of their junior year, to select either of
these schools for their senior year. After receiving the
‘Bachelor’s degree, they were to be encouraged to remain for
two years more in the school which they had selected, and
obtain the Master’s degree. Each school was also open
for graduates of other colleges. In the fall of 1857 the
School of Jurisprudence had six students.

A few months later a special committee, consisting of
H. Potter, William Betts, G. G. Van Wagenen, Samuel B,
Ruggles, and George F. Allen, reported that they had
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late chairman of the Trustees. KEven after the school 1878
was removed to 49th Street and Madison Avenue, the
lecture hours were arranged so as to give students who
desired it the opportunity of spending most of each day in

a law office.

At present all law-school exercises are held on the noble
site of the University on 116th Street. No attempt is made
to arrange lectures for the convenience of young men in
law offices seven or eight miles away. Indeed, the student
is not encouraged to mingle law-office work with that of |
the Law School, but is urged to give all his time and/‘;
energies, during the course, to a scientific study of the law.
This policy has proved most successful. In 1893-1894 the
enrolment of students in the school was 247. In 1903-1904
it was 406, inclusive of 22 College seniors, who took the
first year law work.

Reference has been made to the fact that in the Colum-
bia Law School of the early seventies, nearly all of the
instruction required for the degree of Bachelor of Laws
was given by Professor Dwight, whose title was that of
Warden of the Law School and Professor of Municipal
Law. From the opening of the school to the year 1876-
1876, this remarkable teacher was accustomed to give in-
struction to the first year class in general commentaries
upon municipal law, upon contracts, and upon real estate.
The second year course included equity jurisprudence,
commercial law, the law of torts, criminal law, evidence,
pleading, and practice.

President Barnard in his annual report for 1872 declared
that the success of the *school has been so signal as to
threaten to be overwhelming to the accomplished pro-
fessor to whose superior ability and remarkable powers as
a teacher it has been chiefly owing ; and such as to make
it a question requiring the early attention of the Trustees,
in what manner he may be most effectually aided and
relieved.”
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Professor of International Law and Diplomacy, John 1904
Bassett Moore, A.B., LL.D.; Tutor, Alfred Hayes, Jr.,
A.B., LL.B.; Lecturers, Jackson E. Reynolds, A.B.,
LL.B.; Thaddeus D. Kenneson, A.B., LL.B.

Not only has the teaching force been enlarged, the
course of study been expanded, and the amount of the
required work been increased during the last thirteen
years, but the standard of admission has been raised.
Until the year 1875 persons were admitted to the school
without any preliminary examination. In 1878, as we
have seen, requirements for admission were imposed, and
these were increased from time to time, until the school
was put upon a postgraduate basis at the beginning of
the year 1903-1904. At present, graduates of colleges
and scientific schools in good standing are admitted with-
out examination. All persons other than such graduates
must present satisfactory evidence of preliminary training
obtained in higher institutions of learning in this country
or abroad equivalent to that of a full college course.

FraNcis M. BURDICK.
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1864 J. Howard Van Amringe of Columbia College, having
volunteered their services, were assigned to seats in the
new Faculty. In 1866 the Chair of Geology was created
and filled by the appointment of John S. Newberry.

Of these seven professors five had studied abroad and
were familiar with the educational traditions of the uni-
versities of the old world. Professors Egleston and
Vinton had been students of the Kcole des Mines of .
Paris, Professor Chandler and Professor Joy had taken
their doctorates at Gottingen, and Professor Newberry
had studied for two yearsin Paris. Professors Vinton and
Peck and later Professor Trowbridge were distinguished
graduates of West Point. Professor Egleston was a
graduate of Yale and Professor Chandler of Harvard.
Most, if not all, of the new Faculty were experienced in-
structors, and from the first their deliberations were
influenced and guided by the distinguished educator and
scientific scholar, President Frederick A. P. Barnard.
The influence of these founders of the School of Mines
is to be seen in most of the principal features of the
institution as it exists to-day. To the thorough mathe-
matical foundation for engineering studies, characteristic
of West Point, has been added the logical arrangement
and systematic development of subjects of the Ecole des
Mines, and the thoroughness and scientific accuracy of
the German university. From the beginning the School
of Mines has been cosmopolitan, reflecting the character
of the metropolis in which it is located, and has drawn
its inspirations from the best educational traditions of
the old world and the new. This character has been
maintained throughout its history, and the Faculty to-day,
while largely alumni of Columbia, as is natural, is more
than one-third composed of graduates of other colleges
and professional schools, while over one-half have been
at one time connected with other institutions as profes-
sors or students.
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English . . . . ) 8 points
History . . . . . 2 points
German . . 2 points

French, Spaniz;h, or.Latixi . . 2 points

It will be noticed that English, history, German, and
French (or other language substituted for French),
count for 9 points out of 16, or about 56 per cent of the
total requirements.

Columbia stands almost alone in exacting requirements
of this character, and also is almost alone in devoting no
time in the professional courses to studies of a liberal
character. At other institutions the equivalent of one
or one and a half years is given to culture studies. At
Columbia all the time in the four years is devoted to
fundamental training in mathematics and science, and
to professional studies. A part of this work, however,
nearly the equivalent of two years, is of a real collegiate
character, and not in any way inferior to the so-called
culture studies as a means of mental discipline, while
the time gained for professional work by the exclusion
of the other culture studies, such as language, economiocs,
history, has added very greatly to the value of the profes-
sional training given at Columbia. It is recognized that
this has been done at a certain sacrifice. This sacrifice
has been deliberately made, and it is believed that the
gain more than balances the loss. The loss is in part
offset, it is true, by the 56 per cent of culture studies in
the requirements for admission. The Faculty have long
recognized, however, the great importance of collegiate
studies to the professional man, and have for many years
strongly urged all candidates for admission to take at least
two years of college work before entering upon the engi-
neering courses. As a result of this policy, and of the
high requirements for admission, about 35 per cent of the
students have had one or more years of college training,
and nearly half this number have taken a first degree.












362 A HISTORY OF COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

1802 rapid development of the applications of electricity to
useful purposes, including telegraphy, telephone service,
electric lighting, and electric power, the work had largely
fallen into the hands of men without special training.
In many cases these pioneers in electrical engineering had
not even the advantage of a general scientific education.
A limited number had taken courses in mechaniecal, civil,
or mining engineering, and others had studied a certain
amount of mathematics, physics, and chemistry, giving
them a fair foundation for electrical work.

In October, 1892, as a result of the experience gained
with the graduate course, a full four year course in elec-
trical engineering was organized, and started with an
enrolment of 64 students. In outlining the curriculum
it was determined to adapt it from the beginning to the
needs of the electrical engineer, and not to adopt the
makeshift of modifying existing courses by the addition
of a few electrical subjects. As in the other courses
in the School of Mines Professor Trowbridge's influence
secured as a foundation, not only the usual courses in
mathematics, mechanics, physics, and chemistry, but in
addition a thorough training in general engineering
studies. As he himself expressed it, *the student should
first be made an engineer, and afterward an electrical
engineer.” This was by no means the general opinion
at the time; in fact, Professor Trowbridge was probably
the first to clearly and fully appreciate what the profes-
sion of electrical engineering was destined to become. At
most institutions the policy of grafting a few electrical
studies on courses of general science, or on courses in
mechanical engineering, marked the extent of the effort
made to meet the demand. The establishment of a com-
plete and well-balanced curriculum in electrical engineer-
ing from the beginning was a new and radical departure,
in which for many years Columbia, and one other insti-
tution, stood alone. In practically all other cases the
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1904 neering in 1877 in the appointment of Frederick Remsen
Hutton, the present head of the department, as instructor
in mechanical engineering. Lectures were delivered on
power-plant practice and power transmission, and a few
years later in locomotive design and general railroad
engineering and in properties of waterials. In 1889 the
Emery and the Riehle testing machines were added to the
equipment of the department, and in 1890 an assistant in
mechanical engineering was appointed to take part of the
instruction and assist in the laboratory work. In 1894
the first beginning of a mechanical laboratory was
created, by gifts of experimental steam engines, condens-
ers, and weighing apparatus. The use of this laboratory
at the beginning was mainly by graduates, as no provision
for laboratory work was then made in the regular courses.

On the removal of the University to the new site a course
in mechanical engineering was created, and the full equip-
ment of the new laboratories was begun with three munifi-
cent gifts,— the Worthington hydraulic laboratory in 1897,
followed in 1899 by the Allis triple expansion engine and
three-stage air compressor, and the Baldwin locomotive
“ Columbia.” Among recent additions to the equipment
may be noted a number of gas and oil engines, which per-
mit special emphasis on this type of motor.

The new course began with the enrolment of 14 stu-
dents in October, 1897, since which time the numbers have
rapidly increased from year to year to a total of 103 at
the present time.

The shop work required of all students in the early years
of the course is done in the woodworking, pattern mak-
ing, and machine shops, and forges of Teachers College
under a professor and three instructors. The drawing for
all engineering courses is under the charge of this depart-
ment and demands the services of an adjunct professor
and two tutors. The engineering design for mechanical
students is conducted by an adjunct professor and a tutor.
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1904 Under the old organization, in which the unity of the
different engineering professions was emphasized, much
that was valuable was accomplished, especially in the
development of the newer lines of engineering work,
which were from the beginning established on a solid
foundation of engineering studies. At the same time,
the older profession of civil engineering did not receive
that special attention, nor did it attain that development
in detail, which was demanded by the increasing call for
efficient professional instruction of the highest grade.
From the standpoint of the civil engineer, many of the
subjects leading to that degree, administered as parts of &
general engineering course, were of necessity more or less
elementary, and in many cases insufficiently developed to
meet the exacting demands of modern engineering prac-
tice. Again, under the old organization the staff was not
large enough to cover the ground completely, and many
important civil engineering subjects were of necessity
omitted from the curriculum.

The first efforts in the organization of the new depart-
ment were directed to secure a development along the
lines of advanced professional work, fundamentally recon-
structing those courses taken over from the old curriculum
and supplying a considerable number of wholly new sub-
jects. This work of reconstruction was radical through-
out the department, but the endeavor was to accomplish it
without doing violence to the traditions of the institution
or to break continuity in that part of the educational train-
ing found in what was then called the School of Mines.

The main idea running through this organization of the
department was the historical conception of the profession
of civil engineering as embracing all engineering not
military or naval. Under this view, civil engineering
is not a specialty but the main trunk or stem of all
engineering involved in the business of civil life. This
in no manner trenches upon the development or growth
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1890 out examination upon giving evidence of maturity and a
fair amount of professional experience. Over a hundred
such students have spent longer or shorter terms in the
school, and not a few among them have eventually com-
pleted all the requirements for the bachelor’s degree and
graduated as regular students. Among the remainder
there are many who have received from their studies at
Columbia a new inspiration as well as a new equipment
for their professional careers; who are proud of their
connection with the Columbia School, and grateful for
what it has given them. Such men are often among the
most loyal advocates and supporters of the school, increas-
ing its reputation and giving it the credit of their success.
The profession gains by the labors of such men, as truly
as by that of those who, with greater opportunities in
their early training, have taken the full course and won
the bachelor’s degree. It has been abundantly proved
that such men can be encouraged to enter the school with-
out in any way lowering its standards. The Columbia
degree in architecture represents to-day a broader and
fuller and higher professional training than it did when
special students were first admitted in 1890.

ALFRED DwIGHT FosTER HAMLIN.



BOOK FOUR

THE AFFILIATED COLLEGES

I.—BARNARD COLLEGE

BARNARD COLLEGE, which cares for the undergraduate
women students of Columbia University, is appropriately
named in honor of President Frederick A. P. Barnard, under
whose administration Columbia College was metamor-
phosed into a modern university. In 1879, when he had
reached the age of seventy, and had long passed the period
of life when the average mind gives free admittance to
new ideas, President Barnard, in his annual report to the
Trustees of Columbia College, submitted some reasons
why the institution should permit young women to profit
from the educational facilities it afforded. This was one
year after the founding of what is now Radcliffe College,
four years after the opening of Wellesley and the founding
of Smith, six years after the opening of Girton, fourteen
after the effective organization of Vassar, and practically
contemporaneous with the purchase of the land upon
which Bryn Mawr is built.

In his advocacy of collegiate coeducation — for this was
what President Barnard, with his sense for logic and
economy, and above all his grasp upon American ten-
dencies and ideals, really wished to establish —the great
educator was in advance of the community in which he
lived, and, in consequence, of the Trustees to whom he
made his recommendations. No serious attention was
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1008 Barnard would receive all her rights and more under the
latter’s administration was a foregone conclusion, if only
because of the spirit of fair play, the logical acumen, and
the sense of practicality displayed by him in a short paper
on “ The Education of Women,” contributed to the Colum-
bia University Quarterly for June, 1900. Since Dr. Batler’s
inauguration Barnard has received two important bene-
factions: one of 500,000, consequent upon Mr. John D.
Rockefeller’s contingent gift of $250,000; the other of
$1,000,000, from Mrs. A. A. Anderson, the donor of Mil-
bank Hall. The latter gift took the form of the block of
land fronting the College, and thus insured space for future
expansion. That this will come is certain, both from the
experience of the past few years and from the fact that
the public of New York is being more and more made to
see that Barnard is worthy, not only of Columbia’s adop-
tion, but of the entire city’s pride and effective support.
That it is worthy of the love of its students and graduates,
and of all who have been privileged to contribute to its
upbuilding, does not need to be affirmed.

WiLLiaAM P. TRENT.
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these important standards. A crusade against dishonest 1904
drugs and medicines has been carried on in this city dur-
ing the past year by its representatives on the Board of
Pharmacy, and successful efforts have been made in aid

of the passage of a state law requiring all candidates for
licenses to practise pharmacy to be graduates of some
acceptable school of pharmacy.

Hexry H. Russy.
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Nature, and their Duty to him, themselves, and one another,
and every Thing that can contribute to their true Happiness,
both here and hereafter.

Thus much, Gentlemen, it was thought proper to advertise
iou of, concerning the Nature and Design of this College: And

pray God, it may be attended with all the Success you can
wish, for the best Good of the rising Generations; to which,
vahile I continue here), I shall willingly contribute my En-

eavours to the Utmost of my Power.

‘Who am, Gentlemen, your Friend And most humble
Servant.

SAMUEL JOHNSON.

N. B. The Charge of the Tuition is established by the
Trustees to be only 25s. for each Quarter.”
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IV. GRADUATION

The Examination of Candidates for the Degree of Bachelor
of Arts shall be held publicly in the College Hall about six
‘Weeks before Commencement, by the President, Fellows, Pro-
fessors and Tutors and such of the Governors as shall please
to attend: And such of the said Candidates as appear to be
duly qualified (having fulfilled the Conditions prescribed) shall
at the Commencement be admitted to the aforesaid Degree;
and in three Years more if they have pursued their Studies
and have otherwise behaved themselves soberly and decently
they shall be further Admitted (upon proper Application) to
the Degree of Master of Arts. To neither of which Degrees
aforesaid shall any Candidate be admitted without performing
the above Conditions except, in Cases of extraordinary Capac-
ity, and by a particular Act of the Governors and President
Honoris Causa.

N. B. The regular Time for taking the Degree of Bachelor
of Arts is four Years from the Students entrance; and the Fee
for each Degree Forty Shillings including the President’s and
Clerk’s fees.

Lasrtry. It isto be understood that the greater punishments
of Expulsion, Suspension, Degradation, and public Confession
be inflicted by the Governors of the College pursuant to the
Charter, and that the lesser punishments herein mentioned be
inflicted by the President, Fellows, Professors and Tutors, or
any of them according to the True intent and meaning of
these Laws.



APPENDIX C

CONSPECTUS OF “NEW CURRICULUM, TO GO INTO
EFFECT JULY 1, 1897”

THE curriculum requires an elementary knowledge of both
French and German of all candidates for the degree of Bach-
elor of Arts. In the case of students who offer Greek at en-
trance, one modern language is required for admission, and a
five-hour course in the second modern language is prescribed
during the Freshman year. Students are encouraged to offer
both modern languages at entrance, as they will then be re-
lieved of the obligation to pursue a modern language during
the Freshman year, and the time thus gained may be devoted
to elective studies.

Students who do not offer Greek at entrance must offer both
French and German, and are thus relieved of the obligation to
pursue one of those studies in College. On the other hand,
they must take in rhetoric, a five-hour course during the
Freshman year.

But one alternative for Greek is allowed, namely, advanced
mathematics, natural science, and a second modern language.

All candidates for admission to the Freshman class must
pass satisfactory examinations in the following subjects: —

ENGLISH, LATIN, and MATHEMATICS,
and also in one of the following groups of subjects:

ADVANCED MATHEMATICS

G G Frexce CHEMISTRY
REEK REEK PaYsIics
I { FRENCH I GERMAN Il | Grruax or

A NATURAL SCIENCE BoTANY

WITH LABORATORY WORK

Students are designated in accordance with the subjects they
present at entrance, as follows: —
457
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Group I. Offering Greek and French.

Group II. Offering Greek and German.

Group IIL. Offering advanced mathematics, natural science,
French and German.

One approved course, covering a year, in a Natural Science
including laboratory work, must be taken by every candidate
for the degree either before entrance or while in College. The
entrance requirement in Natural Science satisfies this condition.
Laboratory hours are counted for one-half the number of hours
actually occupied.

GRroup I — Students entering on Greek and French

Freshman Year
Prescribed (12 hours): Latin A or B, or Greek B; Ger-
man A; Mathematics A; Rhetoric A.
Elective (3 hours): French I; History I; Either Latin A
or B or Greek B, —i.e. Latin, if the student has taken
Greek as his prescribed ancient language, or vice versa;
Chemistry I; Physics L

Sophomore Year
Prescribed (7 hours): History A ; Rhetoric B; one of the
following: Botany I, Chemistry I, III, IV, Physics I,
11, Zoology II.
Elective (9 hours): A Sophomore may take courses desig-
nated as open to him in the several departmental
statements.

GRroUP Il — Students entering on Greek and German

Freshman Year
Prescribed (12 hours): As in Group I, except that French
A is substituted for German A.
Elective (3 hours): As in Group I, except that German I
is substituted for French I.

Sophomore Year

Prescribed (7 hours): As in Group L
Elective (9 hours): As in Group I
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Grour III — Students entering on adranced Mathematics, natural
science, French and German
Freshman Year

Prescribed (6 hours): Latin A or B; Rhetoric A.}

Elective (9 hours): As in Group I, with the substitution
of Greek A for Greek B, and with the addition of
Chemistry III, IV, German I, Mathematics I, II,
Mechanical Engineering I, and Physics II.

Sophomore Year
Prescribed (4 hours): History A; Rhetoric B.
Elective (12 hours): As in Group L

Junior Year ALL Grovps

Prescribed (3 hours): Philosophy A (first half-year); Politi-
cal Economy A (second half-year).

Elective (12 hours): A Junior may elect courses designated
as open to him in the several departmental statements.

Senior Year

A senior is required to take fifteen hours a week of elective
courses, and may elect courses designated as open to
him in the several departmental statements. Lf he
became a student in the College not later than the
beginuning of his Junior year, the first year courses in
the College of Physicians and Surgeons, the School of
Law, and the Schools of Applied Science are open to
him, and he may, should he so desire, prepare himself
for advanced standing in such schools by electing the
first year course in the school selected, in whole or in
part, and counting it for the degree of Bachelor of
Arts: he may also take subjects of the second year in
the Schools of Applied Science, for which he may be
qualified.

By a judicious arrangement of his course, a student may
qualify himself to enter the second year in the College
of Physicians and Surgeons or the School of Law, or
the third year in one of the Schools of Applied
Science, at the completion of his collegiate course for
the degree of Bachelor of Arts.

1 Rhetoric A for this class of students will be a five-hour course count-
ing as three hours, unless the student elects Greek A.
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The foregoing was modified, beginning with July 1, 1900, as
indicated below : —

Every candidate for admission to the Freshman class is re-
quired at the entrance examinations to offer subjects amounting
to fifteen points® as indicated below.

The candidate must offer

English . . . . . counting 3 points
Elementary Ma.thematxcs counting 3 points

The candidate may offer any of the following subjects with-
out other restriction than that to offer an advanced subject
will involve offering the corresponding elementary subject as
well : —

Counting in points
Elementary Latin B §
Elementary Greek . . . . . . 3
Elementary History . . . . . . . 1
Advanced Latin . . . . . . . . 1
Advanced Greek . . . . . . . . 1
Advanced French. . . . . . . . 1
Advanced German . . . . . . . 1
Advanced History . . . . . 1
Advanced Mathematics. . 1
Advanced Physics . . . . . 1

The candidate may offer not more than 4 points in all from
the three subjects following: —

Elementary French .
Elementary German
Spanish .

W WweN

The candidate may offer not more than 2 points in all from
the five subjects following : —

Elementary Physies. . . . . 1
Chemistry . . . . . . . 1
Botany . . . . . . . . 1
Physiography . e e 1
Zodlogy . . . . . . . . . . . 1

1 The several subjects are stated in terms of units; the unit is a course
of five periods weekly throughout an academic year of the preparatory
school ; the subjects are assigned units in accordance with the time re-
quired to prepare adequately upon them for college entrance.
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COURSE OF STUDY

Candidates for the degree of Bachelor of Arts are required
to present courses making a total of sixty points, each point
having the value of a subject pursued one hour a week for one
academic year, except that laboratory or drawing-academy
hours shall be counted for one-half of the number of hours
actually occupied. Not less than twelve, nor more than eigh-
teen, points may be presented in any one year without the
consent of the Dean. No one-hour course, unless taken in con-
nection with and as a supplement to a cognate course, will be
allowed. To the end of his Junior year, a student must always
pursue not fewer than three courses having a value of at least
three points each.

The courses necessary to meet the above requirement may
be chosen by the student at will from the courses announced
each year, subject to the restrictions named in connection with
each course, and to the following general restrictions : —

PRESCRIBED
For all students:

Rhetoric A, 3 hours — Freshman year.

Rhetoric B, 2 hours — Sophomore year.

Psychology A, 3 hours — First half Junior year.
Political Economy A, 3 hours — Second half Junior year.

PRESCRIBED

For students who do not offer Latin at entrance:
Latin X, 5 hours — Freshman year.
Latin Y, 3 hours — Sophomore year.
Latin Z, 3 hours — Junior year.

PRESCRIBED

For students who do not offer the following subjects at en-
trance, the courses appearing in connection with them respec-
tively : —

French :

Course — French A, 3 hours —Freshman year — unless
French 1 be chosen.
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German :
Course — German A, 3 hours — Freshman year — unless
German 1 be chosen.

A Natural Science:

Course — Botany 1, 3 hours — Freshman, Sophomore, or

Junior Year, or

Course — Chemistry 1, 4 hours — Freshman, Sophomore,
or Junior year, or

Course — Physics 1, 3 hours — Freshman, Sophomore, or
Junior year.

Advanced Mathematics :
Course — Mathematics A, 3 hours — Freshman year.

Advanced History :

Course — History A, 3 hours — Freshman or Sophomore
year.

Freshmen are required to be in attendance at the Gymna-
sium on Monday and Wednesday at 11.30; Sophomores, at
12.30.

The Dean and the head of the department concerned may
permit any study prescribed for the degree of Bachelor of Arts
to be taken as an elective in an earlier year than that for which
it is set down.

Elective courses are offered subject to withdrawal if elected
by fewer than three students.
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THE GREEK LETTER FRATERNITIES

NOW AT COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY, WITH THE DATES OF THE
FOUNDATION OF EACH CHAPTER

EstasLisunp
Alpha Delta Phi. . . . . . 1836
Alpha Delta Phi Reésta.bhshed . . 1881
PsiUpsilon . . . . . . . . . 1842
DeltaPhi . . . . . . . . . . 1843
Delta Psi . . e e ... 1847
Phi Gamma Delta. .. . . . 1860
Phi Beta Kappa (Honorar)) . . . 1869
Phi KappaPsi . . . . . . 1870
Delta Kappa Epsn]on e« o+ . . . 1874
Zeta Psi . . .« .« . . . 1878
Beta ThetaPi . . . . . . . . 1881
Delta Tau Delta . . . . . . 1882
Delta Tau Delta Reéstablxshed ... 1902
Theta DeltaChi . . . . . . . . 1883
Alpha Tau Omega . . . . . . . 1883
Phi Delta Theta . . . . . . . . 1884
Delta Upsilon . . . . . . . . 1885
Sigma Chi . . . e .. .. 1894
Sigma Alpha Epsllon « o« o« . . . 1895
Phi Sigma Kappa . . . . . . . 1897
AlphaChiRho . . . . . . . . 1900
Sigma Xi (Honorary) . . . . . . 1902
Tau Beta Pi (Honorary) . « .« . 1903



































































































Columbia University Quarterly

The QuarTERLY is issued by the Columbia Univer-
sity Press, with the approval of the Trustees of the
University, and is addressed to the alumni, officers,
and friends of Columbia.

The magazine aims to represent faithfully all the
varied interests of the University. It publishes histori-
cal and biographical articles of interest to Columbia
men, shows the development of the institution in every
direction, records all official action, describes the work
of teachers and students in the various departments,
reports the more important incidents of undergraduate
life, notes the successes of alumni in all fields of
activity, and furnishes an opportunity for the presenta-
tion and discussion of University problems.

The QuarTerLy is issued in December, March,
June, and September, each volume beginning with
the December number. Annual subscription, $1.00;
single number, 30 cents.

All communications should be addressed to the

COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY QUARTERLY
Columbia Untverstty, New York City












